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Blackstone Resources 

Annual Report and outlook by the Chairman of the Board 

The best sustainable investment of the largest structural trend in history 

We believe that the best sustainable investment you could make is in battery technology. This is exactly the vision 
we had when we incorporated Blackstone Resources as a company. We wanted to offer investors access to one of 
the largest structural trends in human history, so we set out to build a fully vertically integrated battery company. 

Our vision of the future is that over the next 30 years, mankind's use of fossil fuels will fall dramatically. Du ring this 
period of time, it will slowly be replaced with renewable energy. 

A significant amount has already been invested in generating renewable energy from wind farms to solar energy. 
This is set to continue as global demand for renewable energy increases. 

However, an area that is ripe for investment is battery storage. We need to be able to store renewable energy at 
reasonable prices, so we can make it abundant and sustainable in the future. This is where battery storage becomes 
essential. lt means that even when the sun doesn't shine and the wind doesn't blow, we will still have access to 
renewable energy. 

To build this type of infrastructure requires vast amounts of battery materials. We are already seeing rising demand 
and supply constraints in the battery metal mining industry. At the moment, this is predominantly being driven by 
the emergence of electric vehicles: these require far more battery materials than laptops and mobile phones, which 
have been previously the main source of demand. 

The highlights in 2019 

• Blackstone Resources delivered a strong performance during the year of 2019. The net profit of CHF 
5.311.582 was recorded, as result of some sales of our mining interests. 

• This shows a profit of CHF 0.12 per share, or a PE Ratio (price earning ratio) with the actual share price of 
approx. 6 times for the year ended 2019. 

• The equity attributable to shareholders in 2019 increased to CHF 24'966'286 from CHF 14'830'884 in 
2018 

Battery tech metals delivered mixed results during the last 12-month period and were highly dependent on the 
short-term supply and demand backdrop for each metal: Nonetheless, all these metals are supported by robust 
demand fundamentals, which point to a sharp increase in prices over the next 10 years. 

Nevertheless, these metals are still supported by a huge structural trend for all battery tech metals, driven by the 
emergence of the electric vehicle. We anticipate that in the next 10 years, there will be an overall increase in demand 
for battery tech metals by as much as 10 times. 

Demand will not be able to meet supply and therefore we continue to anticipate a substantial long-term increase in 
the price of battery metals and therefore with that leverage also the share prices of listed companies in this industry, 

Business developments in 2019 

Canada: In August 19, FIRST COBALT, in which Blackstone has a vested interest, entered into a US$5 million loan 
facility with GLENCORE to complete an advanced feasibility study for engineering, metallurgical testing, field work 
and the recommissioning and expansion of First Cobalt's refinery in Canada. There will be an additional investment 
of up to CA$40 million to produce up to 5,000 metric tonnes of cobalt per year. 

Mongolia: Blackstone sold its metal mining interest, which was still at the stage offinal exploration ofthe molybden
um exploration. lt was sold to a sophisticated investor, where there is an option to repurchase the sold participation 
that is in place until the end of 2022. An offtake and a royalty agreement was also agreed with Blackstone during the 
transaction. The sale of this participation resulted in a CHF 6.9 million profit, to be recorded in the first half of 2019. 
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Peru: Blackstone purchased an additional 31.0 % of South America lnvest Ltd (SAI) which holds a gold and silver 
refinery in Peru, plus some manganese mining interests. Blackstone owns now 50.9% of all the outstanding shares 
ofSAI. Blackstone 's gold interests in Peru entered test production and a werk programme has now been drawn up 
to target a final output of 349 tonnes per day within 24 months. The facility will be powered by solar and wind 
energy, offsetting diesel consumption from the generator by up to 80%. German-based company Bejulo is construc
ting the solar plant forthe ore processingfacility. Plans have also been drawn up to recycle used water and eliminate 
toxic waste. 
This project is an important part of the company's cash-flow strategy, which aims to finance the company's growth 
in battery metals and battery technology research. 

Chile: The company acquired the majority of a series of lithium concessions (approx. 4,500 hectares) in SALAR PAJO
NALES, Chile through its Chilean subsidiary. lt is believed to contain large resources of lithium brine. lt also has there
fore commenced a geophysics study to evaluate these concessions. Various geological reports 43-101 have been 
received and are very promising. In addition, Blackstone is actively looking for joint venture partners in order to 
develop the production of lithium. 

Norway: Substantial geological works were carried out in Norway across three sites thought to contain rare earths 
and gold spread across concessions covered by 25 licences, The total area that these licences cover amount to over 
25 square kilometres. 
Our London-based geological team organised three teams from the UK-based Cambourne School of Mines at the 
University of Exeter to carry out this study. A geological magnetic survey and over a month's worth of research by a 
team of eight was carried out on the ground. Five hundred samples are now being analysed and will be used for 
studies. 

Germany: R&D programme for battery technology. Blackstone's research and development programme in battery 
technology, which was launched towards the end of 2018, includes a planned EUR200 million investment project. 
This project will be partially funded by Blackstone. The remainder is planned to come from various investors and 
subsidies programs. Blackstone has already participated in the application process and the results will be expected 
in the very near future. 
The company has teamed up with several strategic partners This research will be further extended through our 
subsidiary Blackstone Technology GmbH, which is located in Erfurt in Germany, together with several universities, 
the Fraunhofer Institute, in Germany, and EMPA and the Berner Fachhochschule, in Switzerland. 

The aim is to use new technologies to produce the next generation of batteries for electric vehicles and industrial 
applications. lt will aim for an annual production capacity of 3 GWh of battery cells by 2025. This corresponds to the 
equivalent of powering 75,000 forklift trucks or electric vehicles that have a battery capacity of 40 kWh. lfthis target 
is reached, production will gradually be increased to 10 GWh per annum. 

One ofthe most exciting developments to date, has been the creation of a unique and patented 3D-printing process 
for manufacturing solid-state batteries. This technology offers more than double the energy density and halve 
current manufacturing costs associated with current lithium-ion batteries. Automated 3D-printing production can 
also save up to 70% of conventional capital expenditure, compared to current production equipment. The flexibility 
of a 3D-printing system also significantly increases manufacturing efficiency. Thanks to this technology a solid state 
battery is enabled tobe produced in the mass production. 

The Trading division successfully entered into a joint venture agreement with an lndonesian mining company, 
where it expects to expert large amounts of minerals. Due to certain restrictions in the exporting countries in 
2019, the company expects to da substantial trading of various battery commodities which his expected to 
contribute to increasing revenue and gross profit. 

Blackstone Resources began its journey by investing upstream to secure a supply chain of valuable battery 
materials for the future. What it built was a diversified portfolio of battery metal mining interests across the globe, 
which gives it access to supplies of cobalt, lithium, nickel, manganese, molybdenum and rare earths. 

The company is now moving into the next stage of its vision. 1rs investing downstream, to develop better battery 
technology and manufacturing processes. With a secure supply chain of battery materials, its plan is to provide the 
next generation of batteries to auto manufacturers. 

Germany provides an excellent foundation for technology for Blackstone to create a modern and competitive 
battery production facility. lts objective is to establish a significant battery production presence in Germany and 
supply its industry. 

The company's expansion into batterytechnology will create a significant competitive advantage for the firm. lt will 
also soften the impact an revenues from fluctuating battery metal prices as the price of lithium-ion batteries 
remains relatively constant. 

We believe that we are now mid-way to providing the infrastructure that will allow the company to emerge as a 
vertically integrated developer and producer of batteries that will be used in electric vehicles and mass energy 
storage. 
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Outlook for 2020 and beyond 

The battery market is split between a number of important manufacturers. These companies have invested 
significant amounts into research and development. 

However, the real advantage will come with 3D-printed technology, which minimises waste and price and maximi
ses the ability to have denser batteries with any shape or size. lt also allows battery manufacturers to produce 
solid-state batteries with a level of precision that is impossible with current manufacturing techniques. 

Furthermore, we have invested significantly into researching the best manufacturing and distribution techniques 
for this technology. Plus, we have secured our supply chain for battery materials through our portfolio of battery 
metal mining interests. 

The Coronavirus outbreak in early 2020 has caused significant economic damage to the global economy. However, 
there is a silver lining. The loss in economic activity also saw a large reduction in global pollution levels. We may 
therefore see in the aftermath ofthis terrible and tragic pandemic, an even greater move and motivation ofthe 
world towards a greener and cleaner low-carbon economy. Therefore, we expect even greater demand for better 
battery technology in the future. 

We believe that our battery technology will be widely adopted in both the consumer and auto-manufacturing 
industries in the future. 2020 could therefore represent a pivotal point in Blackstone's vision of becoming a 
fully-fledged vertically integrated battery company. 

1 would like to thank you for your continued confidence and support. 

Yours faithfully, 

q 
Ulrich Er~, lic. Oec. Publ 

Chairui(n and CEO 
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Corporate Governance Report 

Group structure and shareholders 

Blackstone Resources AG (hereafter "the Company'' or "Blackstone") assures its customers, shareholders, investors and 
employees that it is fully committed to good corporate governance based on the articles of association of the company 
and the organisational regulations. Moreover, Blackstone adheres to the standards of the Directive on Information 
relating to corporate governance, published by SIX Swiss Exchange. 

Group structure and shareholders 
Blackstone, domiciled in Baar, Switzerland, is organised as a holding company under Swiss law. The Company has a wide 
range of mining businesses with exploration and participations worldwide. Blackstone presently focuses on gold and 
battery metals such as cobalt, lithium, graphite, manganese and molybdenum. An overview of all Blackstone's companies 
can be found in the note 27 ofthe financial statements. 

The registered shares of Blackstone are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange AG, Zurich. The registered shares are listed, as 
per year end 2019, under the ISIN number CH0258739751 included in the SPI. 

Based on its share price of CHF 0.94 as at the end of2019, the company's market capitalisation stood at CHF 40.1 million 
as of 31 December 2019. 

Treasury shares 
As of 31 December 2019, the Company held 7,440 of its own registered shares through a subsidiary. This corresponds 
to a shareholding of 0.02% as of 31 December 2019. 

Significant shareholders 
As of 31 December 2019, the following shareholders held more than 3% voting rights: 

Percentage of shares held (according to most recent disclosure notice) 2019 

Ulrich Ernst 
Adriatica Group Ltd. 
Marcor Holdings Ltd. 
Total 

45.75% 
19.43% 
9.83% 

75.01% 

Details about disclosure of shareholdings are available on the SIX Swiss Exchange website: https://www.six-exchange-re
gulation.com/en/home/publications/significant-shareholders.html?companyld=BLACKR 

Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated March 12, 2020 between Ulrich Ernst and Adriatica Group Ltd (hereafter 
"Adriatica"), Ulrich Ernst acquired from Adriatica all of its 8'297'778 shares in Blackstone Resources AG. As far as the 
Company is aware there are no further shareholders' agreements in place. 

Cross-shareh o ld ings 
Blackstone has no cross-shareholdings exceeding 5% as of the 31 December 2019. 

Capital structure 

Capital 
As of 31 December 2019, the capital structure of Blackstone was as follows: 

42,700,000 registered shares at CHF 0.50 par value for a total value of CHF 21,350,000. 

Conditional capital 
As of 31 December 2019, the Company is authorised to increase the share capital by issuing up to a maximum of 
4,270,000 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 per share, representing a maximum amount of CHF 
2,135,000 through the exercise of option rights granted to members ofthe Board of Directors ofthe Company, emplo
yees ofthe holding companies and related persons. 
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Changes in capital du ring the last two years 
Over the past two years the share capital of Blackstone changed as follows: 

Balance sheet date 
31.12.2018 
31.12.2019 

Bearer/Registered shares 
42,700,000 
42,700,000 

Share capital in CHF 
21,350,000 
21,350,000 

The Board of Directors passed a resolution at an extraordinary general meeting, December 21, 2018, to convert all 
bearer shares into registered shares. Last trading day of bearer shares was 6 January 2019 and trading were resumed 
on 8 February 2019 with the registered shares accordingly. 

Conditional capital has remained unchanged at CHF 2, 135,000 for the last two years. 

The detailed evolution of equity, reviewed by the auditors for the consolidated financial statements for the years 2018 
and 2019, is published in the consolidated statement of shareholders' equity. With regard to the previous years we refer 
to the annual reports 2016 and 2017 respectively. 

The Company's annual reports can be downloaded from the following website: 
http://www. bl ackstoneresou rces. ch/investo rs/financia 1-re ports/ 

Shares, participation certificates and dividend-rights certificates 
As of 31 December 2019, the share capital consisted of 42,700,000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 each, 
amounting to a total of CHF 21,350,000. All registered shares are fully paid-up. Each share entitles the holder to one vote 
at the General Meeting. All registered shares are entitled to dividends. Blackstone has no participation certificates or 
dividend-rights certificates outstanding. 

Limitation on transferability and nominee registrations 
Transferability is not subject to any restrictions under the articles of association. There are no restrictions in relation to 
nominee registrations. 

Convertible bonds 
Convertible Bonds Series A and Series B: 

On 15 January 2017, Blackstone issued a Convertible Bond Series A for the amount of CHF 500,000.00 due 31 August 
2021. The term of the Convertible Bond Series Ais four years and eight months from 15 January 2017 until 31 August 
2021. Amounts drawn under the Convertible Bond Series A bear an annual interest of 5.2%. From the 1 January 2018, 
the Convertible Bond Series A can be converted into Blackstone shares at a 10% discountto the market price of Blacksto
ne shares. 

On 24 September 2017, Blackstone issued a Convertible Bond Series B in the amount of CHF 10,000.00 due 1 January 
2022. The term ofthe Convertible Bond Series Bis four years and three months from 22 September 2017 until 1 January 
2022. Amounts drawn under the Convertible Bond Series B bear an annual interest of 5.2 %. From the 1 January 2018, 
the Convertible Bond Series B can be converted into Blackstone shares at a 10 % discount to the market price of Blacks
tone shares with a floor set at CHF 6.00 per Blackstone share. 

Options 
As set out in the sedion an conditional capital, drawing an the conditional capital may increase the Company's share 
capital by a maximum of CHF 2, 135,000 through the exercise ofoption rights granted to members ofthe Board of Direc
tors ofthe Company, employees ofthe holding companies and related persons. On 27 April 2018, the Board of Diredors 
agreed an an Option Plan for the Board of Diredors and members of management and key employees within the Group. 

Board of directors 

The board of diredors on 31 December 2019 is composed as follows: 
Name Function Status 
Ulrich Ernst Chairman Executive 
Ronald Gröflin Member Non-executive 

Member since 
1995 
2018 

At the Annual General Meeting held an 5 June 2019, Mr. Ulrich Ernst, Mr. Patrick Stach and Mr. Ronald Gröflin were 
re-elected individually as members of the Board of Diredors for a one-year term of office respectively. In addition, Mr 
Ulrich Ernst was re-elected as Chairman ofthe Board of Diredors for a one-year term of office. Mr. Patrick Stach retired 
from the Board of Diredors an September 18, 2019. 
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Members ofthe Board 

Other than Mr Ulrich Ernst, none of the other members of the Board of Directors hold executive positions with the 
company. Other than Mr Ernst, nor do any other members ofthe Board of Directors have any significant business relati
onship with the company. Other than Mr Ernst, no other members of the Board of Directors were members of Group 
Management or the management of a Group company du ring the two financial years preceding the period under review. 

Ulrich Ernst, Swiss citizen, born 1947 
Mr Ernst has an MBA from the University ofZürich with the title lic. oec. publ. After his studies he worked as a teacher of 
law, microeconomics and accountancy at the Swiss Business School. Afterwards, he was assistant at Fides Treuhand AG 
in Zürich and a trust manager, wealth manager and a buy-side analyst at Credit Suisse. Since 1984, he has been presi
dent, CEO, CFO and a board member ofvarious private and public companies spanning from trust, management and tax 
consultancy, accountancy, controlling, audit, worldwide incorporation, restructuring, merger and financing of companies. 
Furthermore, he has initiated IPOs for five companies on the NASDAQ, Bulletin Board, as weil as on the New Market in 
Frankfurt. He has 40 years of experience in the mining business. Currently, he is Chairman and CEO of Blackstone. 

Mr Ernst is a member ofthe board of BS Canada AG (Switzerland), BS Norway Ltd (British Virgin lslands), South American 
lnvest Ltd. (British Virgin lslands), Cobalt Trading (Hang Kong), Blackstone Resources Management AG (Switzerland), 
Biological AG (Switzerland), Rewi Immobilien AG (Switzerland), Gold Mining Projects Beteiligungs-AG, Metal Minerals Ltd 
(British Virgin lslands) and MMM Trading Ltd (British Virgin lslands). 

Ronald Gröflin, Swiss citizen, born 1975 
Mr Gröflin holds a Bachelor of Arts in International Business and an MBA from theJacksonville University in Florida, US. 
Mr Gröflin has 17 years of experience in private banking and wealth management. He held positions as executive direc
tor, vice president and associate diredor with BNP Paribas, Credit Suisse, HSBC, Merrill Lynch and UBS. 

Dr Patrick Stach, Swiss citizen, born 1960 
Mr Stach studied law at the University of St. Gallen and graduated in 1987. He was admitted to the St. Gallen bar in 1989. 
He received his doctor's degree (PhD) in 1991. Mr Stach is a board member of several companies and foundations. He is 
a member of the management committee of the Euro-American Lawyers Group as weil as a member of the board of 
Governors ofthe University St. Gallen. Mr Stach is the author of publication oflaw-relevanttopics in renowned magazines 
and he is author of publications of Art. 707 -Art. 715 Code of Obligations in the commentary to the Code of Obligations. 
He regularly holds lectures on corporate, family and inheritance law. Mr Stach retired from the Board of Diredors an 
September 18, 2019. 

Mr Stach is a member of the board of Stach Rechtsanwälte AG (Switzerland), Kursana AG (Switzerland), Mountain 
Partners AG (Switzerland) and Sandpiper Digital Payments AG (Switzerland). 

Other activities and vested interests 
During the year und er review, the members ofthe Board of Directors did not have any other management or permanent 
advisory functions or any mandates from major Swiss or foreign companies other than those mentioned in their CVs, nor 
did they exercise any important official duties or political mandates. 

Stipulations in the articles of association on the number of permissible additional activities and interests 
Members ofthe Board of Directors are permitted to exercise a maximum of 25 additional mandates, including up to five 
mandates in listed companies. 

Forthe purpose ofthis rule, the term "mandate" means an activity in the senior management or executive bodies oflegal 
entities which are obliged to have an entry in the commercial register or in an equivalent foreign register. Multiple 
mandates in legal entities of the same consolidated group are regarded as a single mandate. There are no restridions 
an mandates in legal entities that are controlled by the company or that control the company, on mandates exercised an 
the instructions ofthe company or companies under its control, or an mandates in associations, non-profit foundations, 
family foundations or staff welfare foundations. 

Election and term of office 
In accordance with the company's articles of association, the Board of Diredors consists of one or more members. There 
are no age restrictions or other restridions an members' term of office. The members of the Board of Diredors are 
elected individually at the General Meeting for a one-year term of office, the period between one ordinary General 
Meeting and the closing ofthe next being deemed to constitute one year. Members are eligible for re-election. Members 
newly elected du ring a term of office are elected for the remainder ofthe current term of office. 

The articles of association da not contain rules that differ from the statutory provisions in relation to the appointment of 
the Chairman, the members ofthe Compensation Committee or the independent proxy. See also: http://www.blacksto
neresou rces. eh/ _reso u rces/pdfs/ ArticlesofAssoc. pdf 
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Interna! organisation 

Allocation of tasks within the Board of Directors 
The General Meeting elects a member ofthe Board of Directors to serve as the Board's Chairman. The General Meeting 
also elects the members of the Compensation Committee. The term of office is one year, this being defined as the time 
between one ordinary General Meeting and the closing of the next ordinary General Meeting. Members are eligible for 
re-election. lf the office of Chairman is vacant, the Board of Directors will appoint a Chairman for the remaining term of 
office. 

The Board of Directors constitutes itself, except that the Chairman and members of the Compensation Committee are 
elected by the General Meeting. Mr Ernst has been Chairman of the Board of Directors since 1995. The Board of Direc
tors elects a Secretary who neither needs to be a member of the Board nor a shareholder. Both the Board of Directors 
and its committees (Audit Committee and Compensation Committee) meet as often as the Company's business requires. 

All key decisions are taken by the Board of Directors as a whole (in particular appointments). The main criteria when 
selecting candidates for nomination for election to the Board of Directors are professional experience and the relevant 
expertise. In addition to their regular Board duties, all members of the Board of Directors also attend three to five 
meetings per year regarding specific issues (see also section entitled 'Working methods of the 
Board of Directors''). 

Committees ofthe Board ofDirectors 
In the 2019 reporting year, the Board of Directors had two permanent committees: The Audit Committee and the 
Compensation Committee. The duration ofthe committee meetings depends on the issues discussed. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is composed of all members ofthe Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has determined that 
all Committee members have proven experience and skills in the financial field to enable them to fulfil their tasks. 

The Audit Committee's most important tasks are to discuss the outcome of the external audits, to verify the Group's 
presentation offinancial statements and financial control mechanisms, to evaluate and select the external auditors and 
to verifythe scope ofthe external audit. The Audit Committee holds decision-making powers in relation to all audit-speci
fictasks, subject to approval bythe Board ofDirectors as a whole. All other key decisions are taken bythe Board of Direc
tors as a whole (in particular appointments). Audit Committee meetings are attended by the CEO and CFO. 

As a rule, the Audit Committee meets a minimum oftwo times per year (at least once every six months). Du ring the year 
under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings, two ofwhich were attended by representatives ofthe statutory 
auditor. All meetings were attended by the CEO and the CFO. The meetings lasted one to three hours. 

Compensation Committee 
The General Meeting elects from among the members of the Board of Directors at least three members to serve on the 
Compensation Committee. The term of office of the members of the Compensation Committee is one year until the 
closing ofthe subsequent ordinary General Meeting. Members are eligible for re-election. Due to the retirement of Mr 
Stach from the Board ofDirectors on September 18, 2019, the Compensation Committee was formed with two members 
only. However, it is a temporary situation which will be resolved with the nomination of a new board member{s) which 
is(are) planned tobe elected du ring the forthcoming General Meeting ofShareholders on May 22, 2020. 

In accordance with the articles of association and the organisational regulations the Compensation Committee has, in 
pa rti cul a r, the fol lowi ng d uties and responsi bil ities in res pect of eo m pensation m atters conce rn i ng the Board of Directors 
and Management: 

Proposals to the Board of Directors concerning the definition of the principles of compensation applicable to 
Management, including the proportion to be paid in shares and the valuation of these shares; 
Proposals to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General Meeting, concerning the total amounts of 
compensation for the Board of Directors and Management; 
Proposals to the Board of Directors concerning the individual levels of compensation for the members ofthe Board 
of Directors and Management within the respective total amount approved by the General Meeting; and 
Proposals to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General Meeting, concerning amendments to the articles 
of association with regard to the compensation system in place for remunerating the Board of Directors 
and Management. 

As a rule, the Compensation Committee meets two to four times per year (semi-annually to quarterly). In the year under 
review, the Compensation Committee held two meetings. The meetings lasted up to half a day. After every meeting, the 
Chairperson ofthe Compensation Committee reports on the committee's activities to the Board of 
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Directors. The committee meeting minutes are made available to the members of the Board of Directors. Decision 
making powers in relation to compensation arevested in the Board of Directors andin the General Meeting as far as total 
compensation amounts are concerned. As a rule, the CEO and the CFO participate in the meetings in an advisory capaci
ty. However, they recuse themselves when their own compensation is being discussed and determined. Other invited 
members ofManagement are likewise not present duringthe part ofthe meetingwhere their own compensation is being 
decided. All meetings held in the 2019 reporting year were attended bythe CEO and the CFO. 

Working methods of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is responsible forthe strategic management ofthe Group and forthe supervision ofthose entrus
ted with its management. To this end, the Board of Directors holds meetings at least four times per year (i.e. once a 
quarter). Meetings last on average half a day. In 2019, the Board of Directors held 4 meetings of which one was held as 
a telephone conference ca II. In addition to the Board of Directors and the CEO attended all meetings during the financial 
year; other members ofthe management were invited when required. 

The majority of members ofthe Board of Directors must be present to ensure a quorum. The Board of Directors adopts 
resolutions by a majority ofvotes cast. In the event of a tie, the Chairman shall have the casting vote. 

Definition of areas of responsibility 
Unless the law or the articles of association provide otherwise, the Board of Directors delegates operational manage
ment entirely to Management. The Board of Directors exercises overall leadership and supervises and oversees business 
operations. lt issues business policy guidelines and ensures that it is kept regularly informed of business performance 
(see also section entitled 'Working methods of the Board of Directors" and the company's articles of association 
(http://www.b la ckstone reso u rces.ch/resourceslpdfs/ Arti cl esof Assoc. pdf). 

The Board of Directors has in particular the following non-delegable and inalienable duties: 

• Overall management of the company's business and issuing the necessary directives; hence also developing the 
strategic objectives, defining the means of achieving those objectives and defining business policy; 

• Defining the organisation; 
• Defining accounting, financial control and financial planning, and deciding on extraordinary individual investments; 
• Appointing and dismissing persons entrusted with the management of the Group; 
• Ultimate supervision of the persons entrusted with the management of the company, specifically in view of their 

compliance with the law, the articles of association, regulations and directives; 
Preparing the annual report and the compensation report as weil as making arrangements for the General Meeting 
and implementing the resolutions passed by the latter; 
Notification of the murt in the event of over indebtedness; 

• Adopting resolutions on capital increases and resulting amendments to the articles of association; and 
• Verifying compliance with legal requirements governing the appointment, election and professional qualifications of 

the statutory auditor. 

Management is responsible forthe day-to-dayoperations ofthe company in accordance with the directives issued bythe 
Board of Directors and following the customary duty of due diligence and the provisions of the law. At the Board 
meetings and the regular division meetings, Managementreports to the Board on the following matters in particular: 

• Progress of business and the financial situation; 
• The outlook and measures tobe taken in the near future; 

Development projects and the status ofthese; 
Major investments and divestments; 
Extraordinary events with a substantial bearing on business; and 
Personnel policy and planning, and information on important personnel decisions. 
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Information and control instruments 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's internal control systems, which monitor the risk of 
inadequate business performance, but cannot rule out such a risk. These systems provide appropriate, though not 
absolute, security against significant inaccuracies and material lasses. Management is responsible for identifying and 
assessing significant risks {see also section entitled "Definition of areas of responsibility'} In addition to quantitative 
approaches and formal guidelines, which covers only part of a comprehensive risk management approach, it is also 
considered important to maintain a corresponding risk management culture. In addition to a continuous process of 
monitoring and assessment, Management also submits detailed monthly reports to the Board of Directors {MIS). These 
provide a detailed account of the volume and profitability trends {orders received, order backlog, revenues, EBITDA and 
net income). Deviations from the budget or from the previous year are presented and commented in detail. lmportant 
balance sheet figures (cash and cash equivalents and net assets) and headcount data are prepared on a monthly basis 
with commentaries. Within the scope ofthe annual plan, a forecast is prepared at the middle ofthe year andin the fourth 
quarter. Management members are consulted an individual topics. 

The Audit Committee and Board of Directors identify additional topics which are taken up in the context of the internal 
controlling processes and subject to in-depth analysis and investigation. However, there is no institutionalised internal 
auditing process. The Audit Committee also focuses an defining the scope and content ofthe external audit. Each Board 
member is also sent the full minutes of all Audit Committee meetings. The CEO and the CFO attend the meetings of the 
Audit Committee. 

Risk management 
As part of the risk assessment process, the likelihood of occurrence of risks and the potential damage are considered. 
Based an the outcome of the assessment of the likelihood of occurrence and the expected damage, a risk matrix is 
drawn up. Further information regarding risk management can be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

Interna! Control System (ICS) 
Blackstone has an Interna! Control System (ICS). The ICS follows a risk-oriented approach, under which - an the basis of 
a risk assessment - key controls in significant internal business processes are systematically monitored with regard to 
existence, compliance and documentation. All Group companies have an ICS. The scope ofthe ICS depends an size and 
risks. ICS documentation and test programmes are in place for the following processes, which have been defined as 
financially relevant: purchasing, inventories, production, property, plant and equipment, payroll, finances, information 
technology, preparation of financial statements and consolidation. The Group Controlling department monitors the 
Group companies' ICS documentation, is responsible for company-wide controls and ensures that effective controls are 
performed in respect of consolidated financial statements. Furthermore, the Group Controlling department also ensures 
an an annual basis that suggestions for improvement and measures proposed by the external auditor's report are 
realised and implemented. 

In the course of the annual audit, the external auditors monitor the existence and the relevant documentation of an ICS 
and submits a report to the Audit Committee. The scope ofthe annual audit is discussed yearlywith the Audit Committee. 
The Board of Directors reviews the internal information and control systems annually regarding their effectiveness to 
identify, assess and manage the risks associated with business operations. 

Management 

Ulrich Ernst, Swiss citizen, born 1947 
Mr Ulrich Ernst has an MBA from the University of Zurich with the title lic. oec. publ. After his studies he worked as a 
teacher of law, microeconomics and accountancy at the Swiss Business School. Afterwards, he was assistant at Fides 
Treuhand AG in Zurich and a trust manager, wealth manager and a buy-side analyst at Credit Suisse. Since 1984, he was 
president, CEO, CFO and board member at various private and public companies spanning from trust, management and 
tax consultancy, accountancy, controlling, audit, worldwide incorporation, restructuring, merger and financing of compa
nies. Furthermore, he has initiated IPOs for five companies on the NASDAQ, Bulletin Board, as weil on the New Market in 
Frankfurt. He has 40 years of experience in the mining business. Currently, he is Chairman, President and CEO of Blacks
tone. 

Mr Ernst is a member of the board of BS Canada AG (Switzerland), BS Norway Ltd (British Virgin lslands), South America 
lnvest Ltd. (British Virgin lslands), Cobalt Trading (Hang Kong), Blackstone Resources Management AG (Switzerland), 
Biological AG (Switzerland), Rewi Immobilien AG (Switzerland), Metal Minerals Ltd (British Virgin lslands) and MMM 
Trading Ltd (British Virgin lslands). 

Peter-Mark Vogel, Swiss cit izen, born 1964 
Mr Peter-Mark Vogel holds an Executive MBA from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business, US, and an MBA 
from the University of Zurich, Switzerland. He passed all levels (Level 1-111) of the CFA Program. Mr Vogel has held several 
key positions in MNP Petroleum Corp., Switzerland ("MNP'1since2007. Prior to joining MNP, Mr Vogel was a senior finan
cial ana lyst at BankSal. Oppenheim, Switzerland. Priorto this, Mr Vogel began his career as a regulatory analyst for Merrill 
Lynch Capita l Markets and was later the senior research analyst at a number of 
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Zurich based private banks. From 2010 to 2012, Mr Vogel was a board member of Petromanas Energy lnc, a Toronto 
Venture Exchange listed company. Further, he was managing director of Chui Consulting GmbH and Gobi Energy Partner 
GmbH. He was also Director of DWM Petroleum AG and TF Petroleum AG. Mr. Vogel has been CFO of Blackstone until 30 
April 2019. 

Mr Vogel is a board member in The Compound lnterest Investment Management AG (CllM) (Liechtenstein). 

Marco Dazzi, Swiss citizen, born 1967 
Mr Marco Dazzi holds a master's in economics and Business Administration the University of Berne as weil as a General 
Management Qualifier MBA from the Graduate School ofBusiness Administration in Zurich. Mr. Dazzi held various Group 
Controlling and CFO positions in the logistics and banking industry. Before joining Blackstone he founded Orizonts 
GmbH, a company specialized in transactions and advisory for M&A and lending solutions for SM Es as weil as for interim 
management and board member positions. 

Mr Dazzi is a board member in GLARO Immobilien AG, Excellion AG, Alpha Portfolio ConsultantsAG, Smart Capital AG and 
Rotany AG (all Swiss companies). 

Michael Hingst, German citizen, born 1967 
Mr. Hingst holds an MBA from the University of Hamburg and has more than 30 years of experience in mining and 
commercial activities. He started his career with various management positions in the areas of financial, administrative 
and marketing consulting in large German companies such as ESSO AG, Airbus lndustries, Tchibo AG as weil as Barclays 
and Opel Bank. Later, as an independent entrepreneur and owner, he successfully managed his own financial hause with 
several thousand customers with a focus on international Investments for manyyears before becomingfounder and CEO 
of German Engineering S.A.C. in 2012 in Peru. Since 2014 he has been the COO of Blackstone Resources AG Manage
ment. 

Ingo Meyer, German citizen, born 1964 
Mr Meyer has worked decades in the international gern trade industry and has more than 35 years of experience in 
mining and commercial activities. There he gathered his expertise as a precious metal and gern specialist. Simultaneously 
he started his second career in the area offinancial advising and portfolio management with several German Banks such 
as Deutsche Bank, Dresdner Bank, Commerzbank and Augsburger Aktienbank. Later, as an independent entrepreneur 
and owner, he successfully managed his own financial hause with a focus on alternative investments, focused on gold 
and silver for manyyears, before becomingfounder and CEO of Goldmining Projects Beteiligungs-AG. in 2011, in Switzer
land. He is Co-Founder and CTO of German Engineering S.A.C. in Peru since 2012 and he has joined the Management of 
Blackstone Resources AG in 2014 as CTO. 

Mr Meyer is director in various small not-listed Swiss companies and is a member at VTAD (Association of Technical 
Analysts) in Germany. 

Change in Management du ring 2019 
Du ring 2019 Mr Marco Dazzi joined and replaced Peter-Mark Vogel as Group CFO who left the Company by end of April 
2019. 

Other activities and vested interests 
Du ring the year under review, the members of Management did not have any other management or permanent advisory 
functions or any mandates from major Swiss or foreign companies other than those mentioned in their CVs, nor did they 
exercise any important official duties or political mandates. 

Stipulations in the articles of association on the number of permissible additional activities and interests 
Members of Management may exercise a maximum often additional mandates, including up to two mandates in listed 
companies. 

For the purposes of this rule, the term "mandate" means an activity in the senior management or executive bodies of 
legal entities which are obliged to have an entry in the commercial register or in an equivalent foreign register. Multiple 
mandates in legal entities ofthe same consolidated group are regarded as a single mandate. There are no restrictions 
on mandates in legal entities that are controlled by the Company or that control the Company, on mandates exercised 
on the instructions of the Company or companies under its control, or on mandates for associations, non-profit founda
tions, familyfoundations or staffwelfare foundations. 

Management contracts 
The contracts of employment with t he members ofthe execut ive Managementteam are entered into for an indefinite 
period oftime and can be terminated by both parties and the notice period is pursuant to the Swiss Code of Obligations. 
In case of cancellation, no termination payment will be due. No entry bonus is paid by Blackstone. 
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Compensation, shareholdings and loans 
Details an compensation, shareholdings and loans are set out in the separate Compensation Report an this annual 
report. 

Shareholders' participation rights 

Restriction ofvoting rights and representation 
There are no voting-right restrictions under the articles of incorporation. In accordance with Art. 689 para. 2 ofthe Swiss 
Code of Obligations, every shareholder can represent his shares at the General Meeting in person or have them repre
sented by a third-party of his choice. The articles of association da not lay down any restrictions on the representation of 
voting rights. 

Shareholders' participation rights are governed bythe company's articles ofincorporation (http://www.blackstoneresour
ces.ch/_resou rces/pdfs/ ArticlesofAssoc.pdf). 

Independent proxy 
The articles of association contain no provisions on the issuing of instructions to the independent proxy or an electronic 
participation in the General Meeting. 

The General Meeting elects the independent proxy for the Annual General Meeting. He or she is eligible for re-election. 
The Annual General Meeting held on 5 June 2019 elected Mr Oliver Habke from GHM Partners AG in Zug to serve as the 
independent secretary du ring the Annual General Meeting. 

From the time of publication of the invitation in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce until approximately seven days 
before the General Meeting, shareholders wishing to attend or have themselves represented at the General Meeting will 
be able to obtain their admission ticket with voting documents directly from the Company's registered office against 
deposition of their share certificates, or on presentation of a certificate of deposit, which they can request from their 
bank. The deposited shares will remain blocked until after the end of the General Meeting. Shareholders who do not 
attend the General Meeting in person may use a power of attorney to have themselves represented by a third-party or 
the independent proxy. 

For the forthcoming Annual General Meetingto be held in May 22, 2020, the Company will make it possible for sharehol
ders to submit their voting instructions to the independent proxy in electronic form via the ShApp platform 
(www.shapp.ch). The relevant registration and voting procedure using this platform will be explained in the invitation to 
the General Meeting. 

Statutory quorum 
Under Art. 703 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, resolutions of the General Meeting must, in principle, be passed by an 
absolute majority ofthe voting rights represented. Exceptions to this rule are the eight resolutions listed in Art. 704 ofthe 
Swiss Code of Obligations, which require a minimum of two-thirds of the votes represented and an absolute majority of 
the nominal values ofthe shares represented (any amendment ofthe company's objects; the introduction ofshares with 
preferential voting rights; any restriction on the transferability of registered shares; an authorised or conditional capital 
increase; a capital increase funded by equity capital, against contributions in kind or to fund acquisitions in kind and the 
granting of special privileges; any restriction or cancellation of the subscription right; a relocation of the domicile of the 
company; the dissolution of the company). 
The articles of association do not provide for any divergent arrangements. See also: http://www.blackstoneresour
ces.ch/resources/pdfs/ArticlesofAssoc.pdf 

Convening of the General Meeting and inclusion of items on the agenda 
The General Meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, or if necessary, by the auditors. The General Meeting must 
be convened by the publication of a notice in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce at least 20 days before the date on 
which the meeting is due to be held. The Annual General Meeting takes place each year within six months of the end of 
the financial year. The right to propose items to the agenda of the General Meeting is governed by the provisions of Swiss 
company law. 

Extraordinary General Meetings should be called as frequently as is necessary, particularly in the cases provided by the 
law. The convening of a General Meeting may also be requested in writing by one or more shareholders representing at 
least ten percent ofthe share capital, specifying the agenda item and the proposals. In this case, the Board of Directors 
must convene the General Meeting within four weeks. 
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Change of control and defence measures 

Duty to make an offer 
An acquirer of shares ofthe Company is not obliged to submit a public purchase offer pursuant to Articles 135 and 163 
ofthe Financial Market lnfrastructure Act of 19 June 2015. 

Clauses on changes of control 
No clauses on changes of control are in place for members ofthe Board of Directors or Management or in favour of other 
senior executives holding a key function within the Company. 

Statutory auditor 

Duration of mandate and term of office of the auditor in charge 
The General Meeting elects the statutory auditor, who must be independent in accordance with the provisions of Art. 728 
of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The statutory auditor is elected for a one-year term of office ending an the conclusion 
of the General Meeting at which the statutory auditor's report is to be submitted. The statutory auditor is eligible for 
re-election. 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG has been elected as the statutory auditor at the Annual General Meeting held 
on 5June 2019 for a one-yearterm of office. The auditor in charge of Blackstone is Claudia Suter. In accordance with Art. 
730a of the Swiss Code of Obligations, the auditor in charge rotates every seven years. 

Auditing fee (in CHF) 
Auditing services1 

Audit-related services 
Total 

2019 
46'000 
4'000 

50'000 

1 Auditing the consolidated financial statements and statutory financial statements of the Company. 

Supervisory and control instruments vis-ä-vis the auditor 
Auditing services are defined as standard tasks in an audit, to prepare reports on the statutory annual financial statem
ents and to be able to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee met the 
auditors three tim es during the 2019 financial year either physically or by conference call. They are responsible for super
vising and monitoring the audit and regularly report back to the Board of Directors. The auditors periodically prepare a 
comprehensive report on the outcome oftheir auditing activities. The auditors' report is supported by an accompanying 
annual management letter and a comprehensive report to the Board of Directors. 

The auditors may not be members of the Board of Directors or Company employees, nor may they carry out any other 
work for the company which would be incompatible with the audit assignment. They must be independent of the Board 
of Directors and of any shareholders that hold more than five percent of the voting rights. The auditors must adhere to 
the independence guidelines oftheir profession. The Audit Committee verifies the auditors' qualifications on an annual 
basis as part of its supervisory and monitoring functions. Particular emphasis is placed on the following criteria: indepen
dence of the auditors and an understanding of the Company's business activities and the specific business risks it faces. 

In respect ofthe year under review, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors have concluded that the independence 
ofthe auditors is fully ensured. 

Information policy 

Blackstone reports on the business at the followingtimes: 

• April 24, 2020 
• May 22, 2020 
• September 1 5, 2020 

Annual report 2019 
General Meeting of Shareholders 
Semi-annual report 2020 

This information is always published in the Swiss and international financial press. 

This information can also be obtained from Blackstone's website atwww.blackstoneresources.ch andin particular underthe 
"Investor Relations'' section. The annual report can also be viewed and downloaded using the link http://www.blackstoneres
ources.ch/investors/financial-reports/. In addition, Blackstone's homepage allows for the possibility of subscribing to the 
push-and-pull information service in orderte receive ah-hoc financial announcements. 

For queries there is a contact form at http://www.blackstoneresources.ch/contact/. Queries may also be sent by post (Blacks
tone Resources AG, Blegistrasse 5, CH-6340 Baar) or by telephone on +41 41 449 6163. 
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Compensation Report 2019 

The Compensation Report contains information an the compensation policy, the compensation programs and the proce
dure for determiningthe compensation ofthe Board of Directors and Management of Blackstone Resources AG (hereaf
ter referred to as "Blackstone" or the "Company''). lt also provides information on the compensation awarded for the 
financial year 2019. 
The Compensation Report was prepared in compliance with SIX Exchange Regulation on Corporate Governance and the 
provisions ofthe Ordinance against Excessive Remuneration in Listed Companies (Ordinance). The principles of compen
sation and the responsibilities ofthe Compensation Committee of Blackstone are regulated in the Company's Compen
sation Charter {hereafter referred to as the "Charter"). Unless otherwise specified, the information is applicable as ofthe 
cut-off date of 31 December 2019. 

The Compensation Report will be submitted to a consultative vote at the Ordinary General Meeting on May 22, 2020. 

In the reporting year, the Compensation Committee held one meeting. Tasks and responsibilities include the determina
tion of performance objectives at the beginning ofthe year and the evaluation of performance at year end, the determi
nation of the compensation of the members of management, the preparation of the compensation report and of the 
say-on-pay votes to be held at the Ordinary General Meeting. 

The Compensation Committee continuously reviews and evaluates the compensation programs in order to ensure that 
they still fulfill their purpose in the evolving environment in which the Company operates and are aligned with the 
interests of our shareholders and other stakeholders. 

Compensation policy and principles 

The objective of the Company's compensation policy is to attract and motivate qualified executives with the required 
expertise and relevant experience and to develop a long-term working relationship with them using a progressive and 
forward-looking compensation structure. The compensation policy is aligned with the business strategy of profitable 
growth and promotes and supports the Company's values. The compensation policy encompasses the following princip
les: 

• Compensation is aligned with the business strategy; 
• Compensation is performance based and executives share in the Company's success; and 

Compensation is in line with market practice and is reasonable. 

Governance framework 

General meeting and provisions of the Compensation Charter 
The role of shareholders in compensation matters has been strengthened in recent years. Especially, shareholders have 
to approve the compensation amounts for the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee by way of binding votes 
at the Ordinary General Meeting. In addition, the compensation principles are defined in the Charter: 

Principles governing compensation for members ofthe Board of Directors: The members ofthe Board of Directors 
receive fixed compensation in cash for their services to the Board of Directors and its committees, stock options as well 
as a potential fee for consulting services. 

· Principles governing compensation for members of Management: Compensation for the members of 
management consists of a fixed and a performance-based component, which may amount to a maximum of 200% of 
the fixed component. The performance objectives to be achieved for the performance-based compensation 
component are set by the Board of Directors, acting an the proposal of the Compensation Committee, for each 
member of Management, with due consideration being given to company-wide and individual criteria. In order to 
encourage individual key employees to remain with the Company lang term, the Board of Directors may decide that 
the fixed and/or performance-based compensation component can be fully or partly paid out in shares or stock options 
of the Company. The Board of Directors determines what proportion is to be paid in shares or stock options. 

Loans, advances and pension benefits: The Company may grant loans and credits to executive members ofthe Board 
of Directors and management team at market terms. 

Committees 
The General Meeting elects' members of the Board of Directors to serve an the Compensation Committee. The same 
members are also elected into the Audit Committee. The term of office of the members of the Compensation and Audit 
Committee is one year ending with the conclusion of the subsequent ordinary General Meeting. Re-election is possible. 
In accordance with the Charter and the organizational regulations, the Compensation Committee has, in particular, the 
following duties and responsibilities in respect to compensation matters concerningthe Board of Directors and manage
ment: 
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• Putting forward proposals to the Board of Directors concerning the definition of the principles of compensation 
applicable to Management, including the proportion to be paid in stock options or shares; 

• Putting forward proposals to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General Meeting, concerning the total 
compensation amounts of the Board of Directors and Management; 

• Putting forward proposals to the Board of Directors concerning the individual levels of compensation of the members 
of the Board of Directors and Management within the respective total compensation amounts approved by the 
General Meeting; and 

• Putting forward proposals to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General Meeting, concerning amendments 
to the Articles of association with regard to the compensation system applicable to the Board of Directors and 
Management. 

Outline level of responsibility and approval process: 

Level of responsibility 
Compensation policy and plans 

Total compensation amount for 
Board of Directors and Management 

Individual directors' compensation 

CEO compensation 

Management members' 
compensation 

Recommendation 
Compensation 
Committee 
Compensation 
Committee 

Compensation 
Committee 
Compensation 
Committee 

CEO 

Review Approval 
Board of Directors 

Board of General Meeting 
Directors 

Board of Directors 1 

Board of Directors 

Compensation Board of Directors 
Committee 

1 In the event of conflict of interest, the member concerned abstains from voting 

In the year under review, the Compensation Committee held one meeting. All members attended all meetings. 

The Compensation Committee is free to call upon external consultants to address specific compensation matters. The 
Board of Directors did not seek external advice du ring the year under review. 

Board of Directors 
The members of the Board of Directors each receive an annual fixed compensation for the term of office for their activi
ties. lt is paid in cash and is not linked to any performance objectives. The term of office is the period from one Ordinary 
General Meeting to the next. 

The members of the Board of Directors may be remunerated separately at market conditions for additional consultancy 
services provided to the Company. Furthermore, additionally to the contributions made to retirement benefits schemes 
(employer's contributions to social insurance), members of the Board of Directors are granted stock options. 

The following table shows the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors for the year ended December 
31, 2019: 

Base Share Share 
Social 

Other 
Name Function 

compensation options options 
Security, Tax 

Compensation 
Total 

at Source 

CHF number CHF CHF CHF CHF 

Ulrich Ernst Chairman 10'000 664 10'664 

Dr. Patrick Stach 1 Member 22'500 1'400 29'054 52'954 

Roland Gröflin Member 

Total 32'500 2'064 29'054 63'618 

1 Other compensation includes legal service rendered by Stach Rechtsanwälte AG. Mr Stach retired from the Board of Directors on September 18, 2019. 



Blackstone Resources 

The following table shows the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors for the year ended December 31, 
2018: 

Base Share Share 
Social 

Other 
2018 Name Function 

compensation options options 
Security, Tax 

Compensation 
Total 

at Source 

CHF number CHF CHF CHF CHF 

Ulrich Ernst 
Executive 

8'531 2'133 10'664 
chairman 

Dr. Patrick Stach Member 7'500 498 42,975 l ) 50'973 

Kirn Ludvigsen 2l Member 10'000 664 10'664 

Roland Gröflin 3l Member 

Total 26'031 3'295 42' 975 72' 301 

1 Legal service rendered by Stach Rechtsanwälte AG 
2 Mr. Ludvigsen retired f rom the board of on December 21 , 2018 
3 Mr. Gröflin was voted onto t he board du ring the extraordinary shareholder meeting of on December 21, 2018 

Management 
In principle, the individual compensation of members of management consists of a fixed and a performance-based compen
sation component, as weil as pension benefits. 

The fixed basic compensation component is based on the function, responsibilities and scope ofthe role, the skil ls and experi
ence ofthe incumbent. lt is paid out in cash and shares ofBlackstone; typically, monthly. Payment ofthe performance-based 
compensation depends on the performance achieved. 

The following table shows the compensation paid to members of management for the year ended December 31 , 2019: 

Function 
Base 

Shares Shares 
Share Share Social Securit y, 

Total 
compensation options options Taxat Source 

Name 

CHF number CHF number CHF CHF CHF 

Ulrich Ernst CEO 

Peter-Mark Vogel 1 
CFO 40'000 4'000 2'000 2'615 44'615 

Marco Dazzi CFO 53'903 24'052 12'026 4'104 70'033 

Ingo Meyer 2 CTO 48'000 24'000 12'000 60'000 

Michael Hingst 2 coo 48'000 48'000 

Total 189'903 52'052 26'026 6'719 222'648 

1 Mr. Peter-Mark Vogel was CFO of Blackstone until 30.04.2019. 
2 Mr. Ingo Meyer and Mr. Michael Hingst are external consultants and the amount reported is considered as consultancy fee. 

The following table shows the compensation paid to members of management for the year ended December 31, 2018: 

Function 
Base 

Shares Shares 
Share Share 

compensation options options 
2018 Name 

CHF number CHF number CHF 

Ulrich Ernst CEO 

Peter-Mark Vogel CFO 100'659 12'000 95'336 

Ingo Meyer 11 CTO 24'000 12'000 95'336 

Michael Hingst 1> coo 24'000 12'000 95'336 

Total 148'659 36'000 286'008 

1 Mr. Peter-Mark Vogel received a loan with nominal value of CHF 70'000. lt bears 3% interest p.a. and expired o n April 30, 2019. 
2 Mr. Ingo Meyer and Mr. Michael Hingst are external consultants and the amount reported is considered as consultancy fee. 

Social Security, 
Total 

Tax at Source 

CHF CHF 

19'341 215'336 

119'336 

119'336 

19'341 454'008 
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~ MOORE Expert Zurich 

Zurich, April 24, 2020 

Report of the Statutory Auditor 
to the shareholders of 
Blackstone Resources AG 
6340 Baar 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG 

Korrespondenzadresse: 

Gotthardstrasse 55 
CH-8800 Thalwil 

Switzerland 
Tel.+41432113547 

Dom1ziladresse: 

Usteristrasse 11 
CH-800 1 Zürich 

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Compensation Report 

We have audited the accompanying compensation report (pages 17-19) of Blackstone Resources 
AG for the year ended December 31 , 2019. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remu
neration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance. The Board of Directors is also 
responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration packages. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We con
ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 14-16 of the Ordi
nance. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the 
remuneration report with regard to compensation , loans and credits in accordance with articles 14-
16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration report, whether due to fraud 
or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value 
components of remuneration, as weil as assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion . 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the compensation report for the year ended December 31 , 2019 of Blackstone Re
sources AG complies with Swiss law and articles 14-16 of the Ordinance. 

~RE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZU~ 

C~ PeterMarti 
Licensed audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Licensed audit expert 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG is an independent Member of 
Moore Global N etwork Limited 

Member of EXPERTsuisse 
CHE- 109.576.732VAT 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 

in CHF 
Assets 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Exploration & evaluation assets 
lntangible assets 
Investment in associate 
Advances and loans 
Deferred tax assets 
Total non-current assets 

Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Accrued income 
Other current assets 
Marketable securities and short-term financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash 
Total current assets 

Total assets 

Equity and liabilities 
Capital and reserve - attributable to equity holders 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Treasury shares 
Retained earnings/(losses} and other reserves 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 
Non-controlling interest 
Total eguit~ 

Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings 
Deferred tax liabilities 
Pension liabili~ 
Total non-current liabilites 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Accrued expenses 
Borrowings 
Total current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Total eguit~ and liabilities 

Note 2019 2018 

5 12'252'512 
6 388'843 23'126'209 

7,24 95'774'863 
8 19'567'764 
9 203'607 2'648'381 

10 8'380 
108'628'206 45'342'354 

11 19'549 553'587 
665'629 
408'013 

12 384'782 2'319'118 
840'829 38'870 

64'200 64'200 
2'383'002 2'975'775 

111 '011 '208 48'318'129 

13 21 '350'000 21'350'000 
25'755'236 30'338'643 

13 -6'964 -6'980'203 
-22'131 '986 -29'877'556 
24'966'286 14'830'884 
48'120'368 -86'992 
73'086'654 14'743'892 

15 29'372'933 28'326'107 
10 7'168'072 
18 69'837 119'102 

36'610'842 28'445'209 

338'784 229'474 
767'651 450'695 

15 207'276 4'448'859 
1'313'712 5 '129'028 

37'924'554 33'574'237 

111 '011 '208 48'318'129 
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Consolidated statement of profit and loss 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

in CHF Note 2019 2018 
Revenues 20'866 
Cost of goods sold -179 
Gross profit 20'686 

Operating expenses 
General and administrative expenses 16 857'953 1'108'503 
Other expenses 182'292 118'654 
Personnelexpenses 17 632776 509'809 
Marketing expenses 78779 24'509 
De~reciation and amortization 516'249 54'248 
Total operating expenses 2'268'048 1'815'723 

Non-operating income/(expenses) 
Change in fair value of investment in associates 
lnterest income 30735 138'250 
Other financial income 78 89'022 
Unrealized revaluation gain/(loss) -11'151'090 
lmpairment investment in associate -60'137 -7'000'000 
Net realized gain/(loss) 19 7'722'266 -650'518 
lnterest expense -336703 -955'225 
Loss on debt extinguishment -346'907 
Foreign exchange differences -13'455 
Gain on derivative liability 346'907 
Other financial expense -38'928 -522'270 
Share of ~rofit/ (loss) of an associate -791 '483 
Total non-operating income/(ex~enses) 7'303'856 -20'843'314 
Profit/(loss) before tax 5'056'494 -22'659'037 
lncome tax ex~ense 10 111789 
Profit/(loss) of the }'.ear 4'944'705 -22'659'037 
ofwhich attributable to non-controlling interests -366'877 -39742 
of which attributable to equity holders of parent 5'311'582 -22'619'295 

Non-diluted earnings per share 14 0.12 -0.54 
Diluted earnings per share 14 0.12 -0.54 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income and loss 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

in CHF 
Net profit / (loss) for the year 

Other comprehensive income: 
ltems not be reclassified to net income/(loss): 
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) 
Net items not tobe reclassified to net income/(loss) 

ltems that will or maybe not be reclassified to net income/(loss): 
Foreign currency translation adjustrnent 
Net items that will or maybe reclassified to net income/(loss) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 

Attributable to: 
Equity holders ofthe parent 
Non-controlling interest 

2019 
4'944'705 

51 '207 
51'207 

9'296 
9'296 

5'005'209 

5'372'086 
-366'877 

2018 
-22'659'037 

-114'972 
-114'972 

139'027 
139'027 

-22'634'982 

-22'601'106 
-33'876 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

inCHF Note 2019 2018 

Operating activities 

Net Profit/(loss) 4'944'705 -22'659'037 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortization 5, 6, 7 516'249 555'708 

Share of income from associates 791'483 

Unrealized rnark-to-rnarket movements on investments 60'137 12'164'202 

lmpairments 19 926'661 7'000'000 

Gain on disposal of participation 19 -6'891'094 

Gain from business combination 19 -1'793'024 

Accrued income -665'629 

Other non-cash items net 1 -6'192 272'825 

lnterest expenses net 288'730 310'627 

Cash generated by operating activities before working capital changes -2'619'456 -1'564'192 

Working capital changes 

Decrease/(increase) in Irade and other receivables 534'038 -49'977 

Decrease/(increase) in rnarketable securities 12 1'874'199 

Decrease/(increase) in other current assets -408'013 

lncrease/(decrease) in Irade and other payables 109'310 105'089 

lncrease/(decrease) in other current liabilities 316'956 228'073 

Total working capital changes 2'426'490 283'185 

Net cash generated by operating activities -192'966 ·1 '281'007 

lnvesting activities 

Investment in associates -55'000 

lncrease/(decrease) in E&E assets and other assets -166'953 -319'678 

Purchase of investments -1 '188'280 

Sale of short-term investments 415'614 

Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances 2'444'774 -1 '507'955 

Net cash used by investing activities 2'277'821 ·2'655'299 

Financing activities 

Repayment of borrov.ings -1'408'039 -73'751 

Proceeds from notes payable 300'933 

1 nteres t paid -20'566 -16'963 

Repurchase and proceeds from treasury shares 132'254 -94'238 

Net cash used by financing activities ·1'296'351 115'981 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 788'504 -3'820'325 

Currency translation effect on cash and cash equivalents 13'455 139'026 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 38'870 3'720'169 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 840'829 38'870 

Non-cash disclosures: 

Property, plant and equipment from business combination 5 12'252'512 

Disposal of E&E Assets 6 22'908'586 

lntangible assets 7 95'774'863 

Disposal of investment in associate 8 19'567'764 

lssued note for purchase of treasury shares 5'393'055 

Foregivness of loan Adriatica 7'000'000 

Deferred l ax assts and liabilities 10 7'159'692 

' lncludes change in pension liability, share-based payment expense and foreign currency difference 
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Blackstone Resources 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Nature of operations and going concern 

Blackstone Resources AG (hereafter ''the Company" or "Blackstone'1 has its registered offices at Blegistrasse 5, 6340 Baar, 
Switzerland. The Company's purpose consists of acquiring mining rights, concessions, licenses, mining technologies, 
developing and operating mining facilities, and developing new battery technology and manufacturing techniques. 

The Company will grow its already existing interests in mineral deposits and battery technology by acquiring additional 
licenses and making new investments. 

2. Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation 

Basis of presentation and statement of compliance 
These annual consolidated financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with 
International Accounting Standards ("IFRS'1 as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and 
comply with Swiss Law as weil as with the listing rules ofthe SIX Swiss Exchange. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments, 
which are classified as fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL ") and pension obligations which are measured at revalued 
amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. All amounts on the consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Swiss francs ("CHF'l 

The Company has foreign operations. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by each entity in the 
Company at their respective functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of 
exchange at the reporting date. 

On consolidation, the results offoreign operations are translated into CHF at the average rate ofthe period which appro
ximate to those rates when the transactions took place. All assets and liabilities offoreign operations are translated at 
the spot rate at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on translating the opening net assets and the results of 
foreign operations are recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. Exchange differences recognized in profit or 
loss in Company entities' separate financial statements on the translation of long-term monetary items forming part of 
the Company's net investment in foreign operation are reclassified to other comprehensive income or loss on consolida
tion. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognized in accumulated other compre
hensive income or loss relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are transferred to profit or loss on disposal. 

Principles of consolidation 
These consolidated financial Statements include the accounts ofthe Company and its controlled entities. 

Where the Company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Company controls an investee if all 
three ofthe following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and 
the ability of the investor to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and 
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any ofthese elements of control. 

Control is achieved when the Company has the power to govern the financial operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Company until the date on which control ceases. Where the Company's interest is less than 100%, the interest attributab
le to outside shareholders is reflected in non-controlling interests (NCls). 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income or loss are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent ofthe Company and to the NCls, even ifthis results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial Statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with 
the Company's accounting policies. 

All intra-company assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between mem
bers of the Company are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Investments in associates 
Associates in which the Company exercises significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. Sign ificant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions ofthe investee but is not control over 
those policies. Significant influence is presumed ifthe Company holds between 20% and 50% ofthe voting rights unless 
evidence exists to the cont rary. 



Blackstone Resources 

Equity accounting involves the Company recording its shares of the Associates net income in equity. The Company's 
interest in an Associate is initially recorded at cost and is subsequently adjusted for the Company's share of changes in 
net assets of the Associate less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Where Blackstone transads with 
an Associate, unrealized profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of Blackstone's interest in that Associate. 

Changes in Blackstone's interest in Associates are accounted for as a gain or loss on disposal with any difference between 
the amount by which the carrying value of the Associate is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration received being 
recognized directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Business combinations and goodwill 
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of 
the acquisition is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued in exchange for 
control ofthe acquiree. The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities ("identifiable net assets") are recognized 
at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Acquisition related costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss as incurred. 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over 
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. lf the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company reassesses 
whether it has correctly identified all ofthe assets acquired and all ofthe liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures 
used to measure the amounts tobe recognized at the acquisition date. lfthe reassessment still results in an excess of 
the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment in the fourth quarter of each reporting 
period except for the year of acquisition. 

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where they relate to the financing of construdion or development of 
qualifying assets in which case they are capitalized up to the date when the qualifying asset is ready for its intended use. 

Retirement benefits 
Blackstone operates various pension schemes in accordance with local requirements and pradices of the respective 
countries. 

Blackstone uses the Projected Unit Credit Actuarial method to determine the present value of its defined benefit obliga
tions and the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost. Net interest is calculated by applying 
the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

This method is based on the amount of working years at the date of the aduarial valuation and considers the future by 
including: 

• A discount rate; 
• The salary development and leaving probability up to the beginning ofthe benefit payment, and 
• Inflation adjustments for the years after the first payment for recurring benefits. 

The cost of providing pensions is charged to the consolidated statement of profit and loss so as to recognise current and 
past service costs, interest cost on defined benefit obligations, and the effect of any curtailments or settlements, net of 
expeded returns on plan assets. Aduarial gains and losses are recognized diredly in other comprehensive income and 
will not be reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit and lass. The retirement benefit obligation/asset recogni
zed in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in Blackstone's defined 
benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available 
in the form of refunds from the plans or redudions in future contributions to the plans 

lncome taxes 
lncome tax expense is comprised of current and deferred taxes. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that they relate to items recognized diredly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or lass for the year, using tax rates enaded 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current 
tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends. 

Deferred tax is recognized in resped oftemporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilites for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for: 
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• Temporary differences an the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or lass. 

Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that the Company is able to control the timing ofthe reversal ofthe temporary differences and it is probable that they 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• Taxable temporary differences arising an the initial recognition of goodwill. 

• The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Company 
expects, at the end ofthe reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

• Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected tobe applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to taxes levied bythe same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilites and assets an a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously. 

• A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax lasses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no langer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised. 

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment lasses. The 
initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost (ifthe asset was previously classified as assets in 
development), any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation. The purchase price or construction 
cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset. The capitalized 
value of a finance lease is also included within property, plant and equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Properties 
Plant and equipment 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

20-40 years 
5-15 years 

Costs of replacing parts of PP&E are recognized as PP&E only when they increase the future economic benefits embo
died in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or lass as incurred. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or lass arising an derecognition ofthe 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount ofthe asset) is included 
in the statement of profit or lass and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized. 

The asset's residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation/amortization are reviewed at each reporting period 
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Exploration & evaluation assets (E&E) 
The acquisition costs of mineral property interests and any subsequent exploration and evaluation (E&E) costs are 
capitalized. Exploration and evaluation costs incurred prior to obtaining ownership, orthe right to explore a property, are 
expensed as incurred as exploration costs. 
Properties that have close proximity, are considered separate cash generating units (CGU) for the purpose of determi
ning future mineral reserves and impairments. 

E&E activity involves the search for mineral resources, determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of 
commercial viability of an identified resource. E&E activity includes: 

Researching and analysing historical exploration data 
• Exploratory drilling and sampling 

Determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource 
Surveying t ransportation and infrastructure requirements 

• Conducting market and finance studies 

Once the legal right to explore has been acquired E&E expenditure are capitalized. These costs include directly attributa
ble employee remuneration, materials and fuel, surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made to contractors. Capita
lized E&E expenditure is considered tobe a tangible asset. 
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License costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalized and amortized over 
the term ofthe permit. 

The acquisition costs include the cash consideration paid and the fair market value of any shares issued for mineral 
property interests being acquired or optioned pursuant to the terms of relevant agreements. Proceeds received from a 
partial sale or option of a mineral property interest are credited against the carrying value of the property. When the 
proceeds exceed the carrying costs the excess is recorded in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income 
in the period the excess is received. When all of the interest in a property is sold, subject only to any retained royalty 
interests which may exist, the accumulated property costs are written-off, with any gain or loss included in the statement 
of profit or loss and comprehensive income in the period the transaction takes place. No initial value is assigned to any 
retained royalty interest. The royalty interest is subsequently assessed for value by reference to developments on the 
underlying mineral property. 

Managementreviews its mineral property interests at each reporting period for signs of impairment and annually ifthere 
is impairment in value taking into consideration current year exploration results and management's assessment ofthe 
future probability of profitable operations from the property, or likely gains from the disposition or option ofthe proper
ty. lf a property is abandoned, or considered to have no future economic potential, the acquisition and deferred explora
tion and evaluation costs are written-offto the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Should a project be put into production, the costs of acquisition and evaluation will be amortized over the life of the 
project based on estimated economic reserves. lf the carrying value of a project exceeds its estimated net realizable 
value or value in use, an impairment provision is recorded. 

lntangible Assets 
Mining concessions and other intangible assets are recognized at cost of acquisition. Development cost are capitalized 
only if the project is expected to deliver future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably or the 
intangible can be sold. 

lntangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
lnternally generated intangibles, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and the related expendi
ture is reflected in profit or lass in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

lntangible assets with a finite life are amortized an a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows, once 
commercialization or production commences: 

Concessions 
Other intangible assets 

25-35 years 
3-20 years 

The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least 
at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption offuture 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, 
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

Environmental rehabilitation 
An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when environmental disturbance is 
caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a mineral property interest. The estimated costs 
arising from the future decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value, 
are determined, and capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount ofthe asset as soon as the obligation 
to incur such costs arises. Discount rates, using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money, are used to calculate 
the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life ofthe related asset, through 
amortization using either the unit-of-production or the straight- line method. The related liability is adjusted at each 
period-end, for the unwinding of the discount rate, for changes to the current market-based discount rate and for 
changes to the amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation. Costs for restoration of 
subsequent site damage which is created on an ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present 
values and charged against profits as extraction progresses. 

The Company has no known restoration, rehabilitation or environmental costs related to its mineral property interest. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when Blackstone has a present obligation (legal or constructive), as a result ofpast events, and 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that can be reliably estimated will be required 
to settle the liability. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate ofthe consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation, including interpre
tation of specific laws and likelihood of settlement. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held at bank and cash on hand and short-term bank deposits with an original 
maturity ofthree months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount ofthese assets approximates 
their fair value. The Company had no short-term bank deposits at December 31, 2019 or 2018. 

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Company's consolidated statement of financial position 
when the Company becomes a partyto the contractual provisions ofthe instrument. 

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI) or at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) depending upon the business model for managing the 
financial assets and the nature of the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Financial assets are 
initially recognized at fair value on the trade date, including, in the case of instruments not recorded at fair value through 
profit or lass, directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, other investments, provisionally priced trade 
receivables and derivatives are carried at fair value and trade receivables that do not contain provisional price features, 
loans and other receivables are carried at amortised cost adjusted for any lass allowance. 

Financial liabilities, other than derivatives and those containing provisional price features, are initially recognized at fair 
value of consideration received net of transaction costs as appropriate and subsequently carried at amortised cost. 
Financial liabilities that contain provisional pricing features and derivatives are carried at FVTPL. 

(i) lmpairment offinancial assets 
A loss allowance for expected credit lasses is determined for all financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, at the end of 
each reporting period. The expected credit loss recognized represents a probability-weighted estimate of credit lasses 
over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

The Company applies the simplified approach to measure the loss allowance for trade receivables classified at amortised 
cost, using the lifetime expected loss provision. The expected credit lasses on these financial assets is estimated using a 
provision matrix by reference to past default experience and an equivalent credit rating, adjusted as appropriate for 
current observable data and forward-looking information. 

For all other financial assets at amortised cost, the Company recognises lifetime expected credit lasses when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, which is determined by: 

A review of overdue amounts, 
• Comparing the risk of default at the reporting date and at the date of initial recognition, and 
• An assessment of relevant historical and forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information. 

For those balances that are beyond 30 days overdue it is presumed tobe an indicator of a significant increase in credit 
risk. 

lfthe credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measu
res the lass allowance forthat financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-months expected credit lass, which compri
ses the expected lifetime loss from the instrument were a default to occur within 12 months of the reporting date. The 
Company considers an event of default has materialised and the financial asset is credit impaired when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay the Company without 
taking into account any collateral held by the Company or ifthe financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the 
Company has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more 
appropriate. The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

(ii) Derecognition offinancial assets and financial liabilities 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership ofthe asset to another party. lfthe 
Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. lfthe Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received. 

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when the Company's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have 
expired. 

On derecognition of a financial asset/financial liability in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount ofthe 
financial asset/financial liability and the sum ofthe consideration received and receivable/paid and payable is recognized 
in profit and lass. On derecognition of equity investments designated and measured at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or 
loss recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified directly to retained earnings. 
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Earnings per share 
The Company presents basic and diluted net income or loss per share (E/LPS) data for its common shares. Basic E/LPS is 
calculated by dividing the gain/loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for treasury shares held. Diluted E/LPS is deter
mined by adjusting the loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding, adjusted for treasury shares held and for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares related to 
outstanding stock options, hybrid instruments and warrants issued by the Company. 

Treasury shares 
The cost of purchases of own shares is deducted from equity. Where they are purchased, issued to employees or sold, 
no gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Such gain and lasses are recognized directly in 
equity. Any proceeds received on disposal of shares or transfers to employees are recognized in equity. 

Share-based payments 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the awards based on the market value of the 
shares at the grant date. Fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The fair value is charged 
to the consolidated statement of profit and loss and credited to retained earnings on a straight-line basis overthe period 
the estimated awards are expected to vest. 

At each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimate ofthe number of equity instruments expected to vest as a 
result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estima
te, with a corresponding adjustment to retained earnings. 

Related party transactions 
Parties are considered tobe related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered tobe 
related ifthey are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities and include key 
management of the Company and its parent. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is 
a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties. 

3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as weil as the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts 
of income and expenses du ring the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are 
based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed tobe 
reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes may differ significantly from these estimates. 

The areas involving significant estimates or judgments are as follows: 

• Exploration and Evaluation (E&E) assets 
The net carrying value of each mineral property is reviewed regularly for conditions that suggest potential indications of 
impairment. This review requires significant judgment. Factors considered in the assessment of asset impairment 
include, but are not limited to, whether there has been a significant adverse change in the legal, regulatory, accessibility, 
title, environmental or political factors that could affect the property's value; whether there has been an accumulation of 
costs significantly in excess of the amounts originally expected for the property's acquisition, development or cost of 
holding; and whether exploration activities produced results that are not promising such that no more work is being 
planned in the foreseeable future. 

• lmpairment of non-financial assets 
lmpairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm's length, for similar assets or 
observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing ofthe asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF 
model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next flve years and do not include restructuring activities that 
the Company is not yet committed to or signiflcant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets 
ofthe CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as weil as the 
expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to 
goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives recognised by the Company. The key assumpt ions used to 
determine t he recoverable amount for the different CGUs, including a sensit ivity analysis, are disclosed and further 
explained in the relevant note. 
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• lmpairment of investment in associates 
Investments in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may not be fully recoverable. lf the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment 
lass is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and lass. For those investments in associates which were impai
red in prior periods, iftheir recoverable amount exceeds their carrying amount, an impairment reversal is recorded in 
the consolidated statement of profit and lass. The impairment review requires significant judgment. Factors considered 
in the assessment of asset impairment include, but are not limited to, whether there has been a significant adverse 
change in the legal, regulatory, accessibility, title, environmental or political factors that could affect the property's value; 
whether there has been an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amounts originally expected for the 
property's acquisition, development or cost of holding; and whether exploration activities produced results that are not 
promising such that no more work is being planned in the foreseeable future. Future cash flow estimates which are used 
to calculate the asset's fair value are discounted using asset specific discount rates and are based an expectations about 
future operations, primarily comprising estimates about production and sales volumes, commodity prices (considering 
current and future prices, price trends and related factors), reserves and resources, operating costs and capital expendi
tures. Estimates are reviewed regularly by management. Changes in such estimates andin particular, deterioration in the 
commodity pricing outlook, could impact the recoverable values of these assets, whereby some or all of the carrying 
amount may be impaired or the impairment charge reversed (if pricing outlook improves significantly) with the impact 
recorded in the statement of profit and lass. 

• Employee benefits 
The expense and defined benefit obligations for the significant defined benefit plans and other long-term employee 
benefits in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits are determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with 
independent actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. This method takes into account 
years of service up to the reporting period and requires the Company to make estimates about demographic variables 
(such as mortality or turnover) and financial variables (such as future salary increase and the long-term interest rate an 
pension assets) that will affect the final cost of the employee benefits. 

• Going concern 
The assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern involves critical judgements and estimates based 
an historical experience and expectations ofthe Company's abilityto produce successful results from its mineral proper
ty exploration activities and its ability to attain profitable operations and generate funds from and/or raise equity capital 
or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations. 

• lncome taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based an differences between the financial statement carrying values 
of assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases ('temporary differences"), and lasses carried forward. The 
determination of the ability of the Company to utilize tax lass carry-forwards to offset deferred tax liabilities requires 
management to exercise judgement and make certain assumptions about the future performance of the Company. 
Management is required to assess whether it is probable that the Companywill benefitfrom these prior lasses and other 
deferred tax assets. Change in economic conditions, metal prices and other factors could result in revision to the estima
tes of the benefits tobe realized or the timing of utilizing the lasses. 

• Acquisition accounting 
In the current year the Company has accounted for the acquisition of South America lnvest Ltd. (hereafter "SAI") as a 
business combination. Significantjudgment was required to determine that the application ofthis accounting treatment 
was appropriate for the transaction. In addition, the basis for the calculation ofthe fair value of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed included significant estimates as weil as for the fair value ofthe consideration transferred. 

• Fair value measurements 
A number of assets and liabilities included in the Company's consolidated financial statements require measurement at, 
and/or disclosure of, fair value. The fair value measurement of the Company's financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value measure
ments are categorised into different levels based an how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised 
are (the 'fair value hierarchy'): 

- Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items (unadjusted) 
- Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs 
- Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data). 

The classification of an item into the above levels is based an the lowest level ofthe inputs used that has a significant 
effect an the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognized in the period they 
occur. 
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The Company measures the following items at fair value: 

- Other financial assets 
- Derivative liability 

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of the items above, please refer to the applicable 
notes. 

4. Recently adopted accounting standards and accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

The following additional revised and new standards have no material impact an the Company's consolidated financial statem
ents: 

- Amendments to IAS 19 - Plan amendment, curtailment, and settlement 
- IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over income tax treatments 
- Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment features with negative compensation 
- Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 
- Annual improvements (2015-2017 cycle) - Collective standard with amendments to various IFRS standards with the primary 

goal of eliminating inconsistencies and clarifying terminology 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for the financial year 2020 and 
later and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. lf they had been applied in 2019, they 
would have had no significant effect on the consolidated financial statements ofthe Company: 

- Amendments to IFRS 3 - Definition ofa business (applicable as of January 1, 2020) 
- Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of"material" (applicable as ofJanuary 1, 2020) 
- Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (applicable as of January 1, 2022) 
- Amendments to the conceptual framework (applicable as of January 1, 2020) 

New standards and interpretations are usually applied on the applicable date. However, the options for early adoption are 
considered individually by Blackstone. 

5. Property. plant and equipment 

The summarized financial information in respect of Blackstone's property, plant and equipment is set out below: 

Real Estate Plantand 
inCHF Buildings equipment Total 

Acquisition costs as atJanuary 1, 2019 
Acquisitions 5'290'425 7'205'055 12'495'480 
Currency translation 
Acguisition costs as at December 31, 2019 5'290'425 7'205'055 12'495'480 

Accumulated depreciation as at January 1, 2019 
Additions (pro rata since acquisition) 102'869 140'098 242'968 
Currency translation 
Accumulated deereciation as at December 31 , 2019 102'869 140'098 242'968 

Net fixed assets as at December 31 , 2019 5'187'556 7'064'957 12'252'512 

The assets as shown in the table are 100% attributable to GESAC, the Peruvian gold refining operation. At 31.12.2018, GESAC 
was reported as an investment in associate and therefore no comparable figures from previous year are presented (refer to 
the note 8). 
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6. Exploration & evaluation assets 

The summarized financial information in respect of Blackstone's E&E assets is set out below: 

inCHF Mongolia Norway Chile Total 

Acquisition costs as at January 1, 2019 22'987'295 322'303 23'309'598 
Additions 33'189 60'022 93'750 186'961 

Disposal -23'020'484 -23'020'484 

Currency translation 4'266 4 '266 

Acguisition costs as at December 31, 2019 386'591 93'750 480'341 

Accumulated depreciation as at January 1, 2019 111'898 71'491 183'389 

Additions 20'007 20'007 

Disposal -111'898 -111'898 

Currency translation 
Accumulated depreciation as at December 31, 2019 91'498 91 '498 

Net E&E assets as at December 31, 2019 295'093 93'750 388'843 

inCHF Mongolia Norway Chile Total 

Acquisition costs as at January 1, 2018 22'776'446 222'570 22'999'016 
Additions 234'231 108'009 342'240 

Disposal 

Currency translation -23'382 -8'276 -31 '658 

Acguisition costs as at December 31, 2018 22'987'295 322'303 23'309'598 

Accumulated depreciation as at January 1, 2018 66'747 71'491 138'238 
Additions 54'248 54'248 

Currency translation -9'097 -9'097 
Accumulated depreciation as at December 31, 2018 111'898 71'491 183'389 

Net E&E assets as at December 31, 2018 22'875'397 250'812 23'126'209 

The balance of E&E assets in 2018 primarily consists of CHF 22.5 million in mineral property rights acquired in 2013 
through the acquisition ofTroi Gobi LLC. Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated June 5, 2019 between Blackstone 
and Adriatica, Blackstone sells to Adriatica its 70% shareholding participation in Troi Gobi LLC. According to the agreement 
between Blackstone and Adriatica, Adriatica purchased a 70% equity interest from Blackstone for a total consideration of 
CHF 30.0 million, payable in cash until December 31, 2023. 

In 2019, Blackstone has acquired various concessions in the area of Antofogasta region, Chile, to explore and develop its 
lithium project. 

7. lntangible assets 

The summarized financial information in respect of Blackstone's intangible assets is set out below: 

Other 
intangible 

inCHF Goodwill Concessions assets Total 

Acquisition costs as at January 1, 2019 
Add itions 82'998'665 13'025'530 3'942 96'028'137 
Retirements 
Currency translation 
Acquisition costs as at December 31, 2019 82'998'665 13'025'530 3'942 96'028'137 

Accumulated depreciation as at January 1, 2019 
Additions -253'274 -253'274 
Currency translation 
Accumulated de~reciation as at December 31, 2019 -253'274 -253'274 

Net intangible assets as at December 31, 2019 82'998'665 12'772'256 3'942 95'774'863 

Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated May 30, 2019 between the Blackstone and Adriatica, Blackstone acquired a 
30.46% participation in SAI for a total consideration of CHF 31.77 million. The purchase price was settled through an increa
se in the existing loan facility with Adriatica. The loan is secured through Blackstone's participation 
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in SAI. The loan bears 1 % interest p.a. and expires on December 31, 2023. As of May 30, 2019, SAI is fully consolidated. The 
transaction was treated as a business combination and accounted for using the acquisition method pursuant to IFRS 3 
(refer to note 24) 

8. Investment in associates 

Associates and joint ventures (together "Associates") in which the Company exercises significant influence or joint control 
are accounted for using the equity method. As of May 30, 2019, the Company increased its existing SAI participation from 
20.48% to 50.94% and SAI became a subsidiary from that date (refer to note 24). As a consequence, the investment will be 
derecognized as an investment in associates and instead fully consolidated within the Company effective May 30, 2019. 

The following tables summarize the financial information of SAI as included in its own financial statements. The first table 
also reconciles the summarized financial information to the carrying amount ofthe Company's interest in SAI. The informa
tion for 2018 presented in the tables include the results of SAI for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2018. The 
information for 2019 includes the results of SAI only for the period from January 1 to May 31 , 2019, because SAI became a 
subsidiary on May 31, 2019 (refer to note 24). 

in CHF 

January 1 

Additions 

Reclassification 1 

lmpairment 

Revaluation gain 1 

Revaluation loss 

Share of income I (loss) from associate 

December31 

in CHF 

Total current assets 

Total non-current assets 

Total assets 

Total current liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

in CHF 

Revenues 

Cost of goods sold 

Gross Profit 

General and adminstrative expenses 

Total Expenses 

Earnings before interest and tax 

Financial result 

Earnings before tax 

Tax 

Earnings after tax 

2019 

19'567'764 

-21 '360'788 

1'793'024 

2019 

2019 

6'545 

6'545 

-116'954 

-123'499 

-123'499 

2018 

27'347'650 

55'000 

-7'000'000 

-43'403 

-791'483 

19'567'764 

2018 

681'593 

1'508'239 

2'189'832 

101 '036 

4'175'205 

4'276'241 

2018 

40'960 

-35'476 

5'484 

598'741 

-598'741 

-593'258 

-3'364'158 

-3'957'416 

-3'957'416 

In 2018, the Company's interest in SAI was accounted for in accordance with IAS 28 Investments in Associates using the 
equity method of accounting whereby the initial investment is recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognize the Company's share of profit or lass and distributions received by SAI. The equity method was 
used because the majority shareholder Adriatica has control and therefore can influence the outcome of the general 
meetings and distribution of the variable returns. During 2018 the Company purchased additional shares from a third 
party. 
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Du ring the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company recorded an impairment lass of CHF 7,000,000 on the investment 
in associate. The impairment lass was triggered as a result offinancial difficulties at SAI, which resulted in significant debt 
restructuring. The recoverable amount was measured based on fair value less costs of disposal, determined by discounted 
cash flow techniques based on a five-year business plan. The determination of fair value less cost of disposal uses level 3 
valuation techniques. The key assumptions and inputs used in the valuation are as follows: 

Discount rate of 15% based on a weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The Company utilized a third-party consultant 
to help determine the appropriate discount rate considering market, country and industry risk fadors. An increase or 
decrease in the discount rate of 3% would increase the impairment by CHF 4.8 Mio. or decrease the impairment by CHF 
7.6 Mio., respectively. 
Gold ore processing levels are expected to increase from 4 tons per day (TPD) starting in the second quarter of 2019 to 
350 TPD by the first quarter of 2022 with the mill operating on average 27 days per month. The gold mill is currently 
permitted to process 50 TPD but can apply to increase production up to a maximum level of 350 TPD. The planned 
volume increase is sensitive to SAl's ability to source a sufficient volume of ore and to keep the facility in consistent operation. 
lf the mill is only able to achieve a production capacity of 200 TPD or 300 TPD this would increase the impairment by CHF 
9.5 Mio. and CHF 3.2 Mio., respectively. 
Goldoutput is estimated at 21 grams of gold per ton of ore processed. The estimate was determined based on lab 
analyses of ore samples purchased from artisanal miners in the area. A decrease or increase in the gold output of 5 
grams, i.e. 16 instead of 21 per ton would increase the impairment by CHF 7.6 Mio. respectively decrease it by the same 
amount if applying 26 grams gold output per ton of ore processed. 
Gold price of USD 1 ,290 per ounce based on the market price of gold at period end. lt is an exogenous factor and thus 
the only assumption which is not directly controlled by the management. Reducing or increasing the gold price by 5% 
would have an impact of approx. CHF 1.6 Mio. on the valuation. 
Stabilized operating profit of 17% expected tobe achieved by the end of year 5. A decrease or increase of 2%pt to 15% 
or 19% respectively would have an impact of CHF 2.4 Mio. on the valuation. 

9.Advancesandloans 

The summarised financial information in respect of Blackstone's advances and loans is set out below: 

in CHF 

3rd party loans 

Loan to employee 1 

Loan to executive management 2 

Loan to Board of Director 3 

Total advances and loans 

2019 

198'657 

4'950 

203'607 

2018 

2'356'486 

10'000 

72'358 

209'537 

2'648'381 

1 Loan bears no interest and is amortized over a 10 months period commencing on October 30, 2019. 
2 Loan bears interest of 3% p.a. and expired on April 30, 2019. 
3 Loan bears interest of 7% p.a. and is secured by various assets and was settled on November 18, 2019. 

10.Taxes 

A. Deferred tax assets and liabilites 

The net value of deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 

inCHF 

As at January 1 

Tax charged to comprehensive income 

Tax charged to other components of equity 

Currency translation 
As at December 31 

2019 

-8'380 

7'168'072 

7'159'692 

2018 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities were generated from the following positions: 

in CHF 
Deferred tax assets 
Pension plan 
Total deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Real estate buildings 

Plant, machinery and equipment 

lntangible assets 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax 

2019 

8'380 
8'380 

1'277'160 

2'048'680 

3'842'233 
7'168'072 

7'159'692 

2018 

The position of deferred tax liabilities in 2019 is related to the business combination of SAI (refer to note 24). In 2018, no 
deferred tax assets have been recognized due to the uncertainty offuture income and profit situation in the Company and 
the relevant entities. The temporary differences have not resulted in any deferred tax liabilities. 

B. Tax expense 

inCHF 

Current tax expense 
Deferred tax expense/benefit 
Total tax expense 

2019 2018 

111789 

111'789 

No income tax was charged or credited to equity and other comprehensive income during 2018. 

Aging of not recognized tax losses: 

in CHF 

Expire in 2024 
Expire in 2025 
Total 

11. Trade and other receivables 

2019 
695'991 

2'969'764 
3'665'755 

2018 

695'988 
2'964'934 
3'660'922 

The summarised financial Information in respect of Blackstone's trade and other receivables is set out below: 

inCHF 

Trade receivables 

Related party receivable1 

Total 

2019 

19'549 

19'549 

2018 

53'587 

500'000 

553'587 
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12. Marketable securities and short-term financial assets 

The summarised financial information in respect of Blackstone's marketable securities is set out below: 

in CHF 

Current: 1 

lnca One Gold Corp 

First Cobalt Corp. (C$) 

First Cobalt Corp. (C$) 2 

Total marketable securities 3 

2019 2018 

586'383 

384782 

1732735 
384'782 2'319'118 

1 The shares are categorized as trading shares. Fair value is determined using quoted bid prices from the market. 

2 50% ofthe First Cobalt Corp. shares were restrided untilJune 30, 2019. Since it is within a within a 12-month period the shares are 
reported under current assets. The fair value of the restricted shares was determined using the quoted bid price in an adive market 
discounted using a discount rate of 10% du ring the restridion period. 

3 The marketable securities were reported in 2018 as other financial assets and regrouped in 2019. 

13. Share capital 

(a) Authorized share capital 
The Company was authorized to issue up to 68'320'000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.50 until November 30, 
2019. As of December 31, 2019, no authorized capital was outstanding. 

(b) lssued share capital 
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had 42700'000 registered shares issued and outstanding. 

(b) Treasury shares 
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company held 7'440 and 1 '237'945 treasury shares, respectively. 

14. Earnings per share 

A. Basic earnings per share 

The calculation of basic EPS has been based an the following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and weigh
ted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding. 

i. ProfiU(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic) 

in CHF 
Profit/(loss) for the year, attributable to the owners of the company 

ii. Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 

in shares 

lssued ordinary shares at 1 January 
Effect of treasury shares held 

Welghted average number of ordlnary shares at 31 December 

iii. Basic earnings per share 

in CHF 
ProfiU(loss) for the year, attributable to the owners of the company 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 

Basic eamings per share 

Note 2019 2018 

5'311'582 -22'619'295 

Note 2019 2018 

13 42700'000 42700'000 
13 -7'440 -1'237'945 

42'692'560 41'512'138 

Note 2019 2018 

5'311 '582 -22'619'295 

42'692'560 41'512'138 

0.12 -0.54 
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B. Diluted earnings per share 

The calculation of diluted EPS has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and weighted-aver
age number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

i. Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted) 

in CHF 

Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic) 

lnterest expense on convertible bonds 

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted) 

ii. Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 

in shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 

Effect of conversion of convertible notes 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 
December 

iii. Diluted earnings per share 

in CHF 

Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted) 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December 

Dlluted earnlngs per share 

Note 2019 2018 

5'311 '582 -22'619'295 

17'238 

5'328'820 -22'619'295 

Note 2019 2018 

42'692'560 41'512'138 

510 

42'693'070 41'512'139 

Note 2019 2018 

5'328'820 -22'619'295 

42'693'070 41 '512'139 

0.12 -0.54 

1 The dilutive effect of the convertible not Series A and B would have had an antidilutive effect in 2018. The Adriatica convertible had an 
antidilutive effect in 2018. 

15. Borrowings 

The summarised financial information in respect of Blackstone's borrowings is set out below: 

Third party borrowings (all classified as non-current): 

inCHF 

Third party loans 

Convertible bond Series A 1 

Convertible bond Series B 2 

Total third party borrowings 

2019 

1'572'307 

513'926 

10'000 

2'096'233 

2018 

51 '566 

513'926 

10'000 

575'492 

1 The convertible band Series A bears interest of 5.2% p.a. and matures on August 31, 2021. Blackstone has the option to repurchase the 
convertible band Series A from September 1, 2018 at the nominal value. 

2 The convertible band Series B bears interest of 5.2% p.a. and matures on January 1, 2022. Blackstone has the option to repurchase the 
convertible bond Series B fromJanuary 1, 2019 at the nominal value. 
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Related party borrowings: 

in CHF 2019 2018 

Current: 

U. Ernst 1 207'276 1'898'692 

Biological 2'550'167 

Total current 207'276 4'448'859 

Non-current: 

U. Ernst 1 5'027'505 7'489'442 

Adriatica 2 22'249'195 20'261 '183 

Total non-current 27'276'700 27'750'625 

Total related ~arty borrowings 27'483'976 32'199'484 

1 Loan agreement bearing interest of 1.5% p.a. with a 12-month termination notice at the end of each calendar year. 

2 Loan agreement bearing of 1 % p.a. and expires by December 31, 2023. The loan is secured through Blackstone's interest in SAI 

16. General and administrative expenses 

The summarised financial information in respect of Blackstone's general and administration expenses is set out below: 

inCHF 2019 2018 

Rental expense 220'347 191 '944 

Accounting & Audit 157'190 289'753 

Tax& legal 102'187 151 '833 

Consulting expenses 145'205 251 '036 

Listing expenses 72'960 64'559 

Other administrative exQenses 160'065 159'378 

Total general and administrative expenses 857'953 1'108'503 

17.Personnelexpenses 

Total personnel costs, which include salaries, wages, social security, and other personnel costs incurred 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, were CHF 628,809 and CHF 509,809 respectively: 

in CHF 2019 2018 

Salaries 526'787 428'890 

Social insurance 105'988 80'919 

Total ~ersonnel expenses 632'776 509'809 
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18. Pensions and other post-employment benefits 

The company operates defined benefit plan in Switzerland and a defined contribution plan in Mongolia. The benefit 
payments are from trustee-administered funds. Plan assets held in trusts are governed by local regulations and pradices 
in each country. 

The movement in the defined benefit pension plan for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respedively is as 
follows. 

inCHF 

1. Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 

Change in consolidation scope 

Current service cost (employer) 

lnterest expense 

Contributions by plan participants 

Actuarial gains and (losses) arising from changes in demographic assumptions 

Actuarial gains and (losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions 

Experience gains/(losses) 

Exchange rate changes 

Benefits paid 

Past service cost 

Business combinations 

Plan curtailments 

Plan settlements 

Benefit obligation at end of year 

inCHF 

2. Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 

Remeasurement: accrual of asset at beginning of year 

lnterest income 

Return on plan assets, excluding amount in interest income 

Contributions by the employer 

Contributions by plan participants 

Benefits paid 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

inCHF 

3. Statement of financial position (EOY) 
Present value of funded obligations 

Fair value of plan assets 

(Deficit)/surplus for funded plans 

Net asset/(liability) 

inCHF 

4. Components of defined benefit cost in profit and loss 

Current service cost (employer) 
lnterest expense on defined benefit obligation 

lnterest income on plan assets 

Total pension cost recognized in the P&L account 

2019 

(425'177) 

(24'420) 

(2'493) 

(16'567) 

(6'510) 

107'344 

329'452 

(38'371) 

2019 

306'075 

1'421 

(42'644) 

16'567 

16'567 

(329'452) 

(31'466) 

2019 

(38'371) 

(31'466) 

(69'837) 

(69'837) 

2019 

(24'420) 
(2'493) 

1'421 

(25'492) 

2018 

(6'389) 
(10'892) 

(1'420) 

(6'778) 

(103'653) 

(296'045) 

(425'177) 

2018 

1'148 

1'404 

(6'078) 

6'778 

6'778 

296'045 

306'075 

2018 

(425'177) 

306'075 

(119'102) 

(119'102) 

2018 

(10'892) 

(1 '420) 
1'404 

(10'908) 
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inCHF 

5. Movements in statement of financial position 

Balance sheet asset (liability) beginning of year 

Pension expense recognised in P&L in the financial year 

Amounts recognised in OCI in the financial year 

Employer contributions made in the financial year 

Balance sheet asset (liability) end of year 

inCHF 

6. Remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset (liability) 

Actuarial gains and (losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions 

Actuarial gains and (losses) not yet recognized 

Experience gains/(losses) 

Return on plan assets, excluding amount in interest income 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset (liability) 

Amount recognised in OCI 

7. Principal actuarial assumptions used 

Discount rate 

Average future salary increases 

Expected rate of future benefit increases 

Credit rate 

Inflation rate 

Mortatility tables 

Turnover rate 

Capital option 

8. Sensitivities 

Decrease of discount rate - 0.50% 

Effect on defined benefit obligation 

lncrease of discount rate + 0.50% 

Effect on defined benefit obligation 

Decrease of salary increase - 0.50% 

Effect on defined benefit obligation 

lncrease of salary increases + 0.50% 

Effect on defined benefit obligation 

19. Net realized gain and losses 

2019 2018 

(119'102) 

(25'492) (10'908) 

58'190 (114'972) 

16'567 6'778 

(69'837) (119'102) 

2019 2018 

(114'972) 

(5'240) 

100'834 (103'653) 

(42'644) (6'078) 
58'190 (109'731) 

(56'782) (114'972) 

2019 2018 

0.15% 0.90% 

1.00% 1.00% 

0.00% 0.00% 

1.00% n/a 

0.50% n/a 

BVG 2015 GT BVG 2015 GT 

BVG 2015 BVG 2015 

20.00% n/a 

2019 2018 

-0 .35% 0.40% 
-5'380 -43'180 

0.65% 1.40% 

4'522 38'085 

0.50% 0.50% 

505 1'246 

1.50% 1.50% 

-535 -1 '266 

The summarised financial information in respect of Blackstone's net realized gain and lasses is set out below: 

inCHF 

Disposal of Troi Gobi LLC participation 

Gain from business combination 

lmpairment 

Net loss on marketable securities 

Total net realized/losses 

2019 
6'891'094 

1'793'024 

-926'661 

-35'190 

7'722'266 

2018 

-650'518 

-650'518 



Blackstone Resources 

20. Share-based payments 

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company granted shares to employees and consultants as 
compensation for services rendered. The shares granted vested immediately. The fair value of the shares granted prior to 
Blackstone's listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange was based on the share price used in equity transactions between the Company 
and third parties. The fair value of the shares granted subsequent to Blackstone's listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange was based 
on the market value of Blackstone's shares on the grant date. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company 
granted 59'252 shares at its nominal value of CHF 0.50 each. Du ring the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company granted 
42'900 shares with a weighted-average fair value of CHF 7.73. Total expenses of CHF 29'626 were recognized in the statement 
of profit and loss of 2019 and CHF 316'218 in 2018 respectively. 

21. Financial instruments 

Fairvalue 
The following tables present the carrying values and fair values of Blackstone's financial instruments. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to seil an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (most advantageous) 
market at the measurement date under current market conditions. Where available, market values have been used to deter
mine fair values. When market values are not available, fair values have been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at 
prevailing market interest and exchange rates. The estimated fair values have been determined using market information and 
appropriate valuation methodologies but are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that Blackstone could realise in the 
normal course of business. The financial assets and liabilities are presented by class in the tables below at their carrying values, 
which generally approximate the fair values: 

2019 /in CHF Amortized cost 1 FVTPL 2 Total 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 3 840'829 840'829 

Restricted cash 64'200 64'200 

Trade and other receivables 19'549 19'549 

Marketable securities (current} 384782 384782 

Advances and loans 203'607 203'607 

Total financial assets 223'156 1'289'811 1'512'967 

Liabilities 

Trade and other payables 338784 338784 

Borrowings 29'580'209 29'580'209 

Total financial liabilities 29'918'993 29'918'993 

2018 /in CHF Amortized cost 1 FVTPL 2 Total 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 3 38'870 38'870 

Restricted cash 64'200 64'200 

Trade and other receivables 553'587 553'587 

Other financial assets (current} 3 1'473712 1 '473712 

Other financial assets (restricted} 4 845'406 845'406 

Advances and loans 2'648'381 2'648'381 

Total financial assets 3'201'968 2'422'188 5'624'156 
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Liabilities 

Trade and other payables 

Borrowings 

Total financial liabilities 

229'474 

32'774'966 

33'004'440 

229'474 

32'774'966 

33'004'440 

1 Carrying value comprises investments, loans, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other liabilities measured at amortized cost. 

2 FVtPL - Fair value through profit and lass. 

3 Classified as Level 1, measured using quoted exchange rates and/or market prices. 

4 Classified as Level 2, The Company elected FVTPL to reduce any measurement inconsistency. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial lass. The Company's primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash, short-term and long-term investments 
which are being held in bank accounts. The cash, short-term and long-term investments are deposited in bank accounts 
mainly held with two banks in Switzerland so there is a concentration of credit risk. This risk is managed by using a Cantonal 
bank and Swiss private bank. The Swiss cantonal bank is guaranteed through the municipal state. 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they 
are denominated in currencies that differ from the Corporation's functional currency. Since the majority ofthe assets and 
liabilities are denominated in Swiss francs the currency risk is minimal. Same investments are held in CAD$. The exchange 
rate has historically been very stable. 

lnterest rate risk 
lnterest rate risk is the risk that the fair value offuture cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rate. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash 
at variable rates. The Company doesn't face any other interest rate risk since all borrowings are at fixed rates. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company has 
a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Company's normal opera
ting requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company attempts to ensure there is sufficient access to funds to meet on-go
ing business requirements, taking into account its current cash position and potential funding sources. The current assets 
are sufficient to confirm the going concern. The monthly cash burn rate for 2020 is estimated at approx. CHF 80'000. 

The following tables set out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash-flows) of financial 
liabilities: 

Between 1 and Between 2 
inCHF u~ to 1 ~ear 2 ~ears and 5 ~ears Total 
At December 31 2019 
Trade and other payables 338784 338784 
Borrowings 207'276 2'096'233 27'276700 29'580'209 

Total 546'061 2'096'233 27'276'700 29'918'993 

Between 1 and Between 2 
inCHF Up to 1 ~ear 2 ~ears and 5 ~ears Total 
At December 31 2018 
Trade and other payables 229'474 229'474 

Borrowings 4'448'859 27'750'625 575'482 32774'966 

Total 4'678'333 27'750'625 575'482 33'004'440 
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22. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

January 1, December 
in CHF 2019 Cash flows Other 31,2019 
Current borrowings 4'448'859 -4'241'583 207'276 
Non-current borrowings 28'326'107 1'046'826 29'372'933 

Total liabilities from financing activities 32'774'966 -3'194'758 29'580'209 

January 1, December 
in CHF 2018 Cash flows Other 31,2018 
Current borrowings 29'530'058 227'182 -25'308'381 4'448'859 
Non-current borrowings 3'770'385 24'555'722 28'326'107 

Total liabilities from financing activities 33'300'444 227'182 -752'659 32'774'966 

1 The Other column includes the effect of reclassification on non-current portion of interest-bearing borrowings to current due to the 
passage of time, the effect of accrued but not yet paid interest on interest-bearing borrowings, write-offs of loans, reclassification 
from current to non-current for maturity dates extended, and various other adjustments. 

23. Management of capital 

The Company manages its capital structure, consisting of share capital, and will make adjustments to it depending on 
the funds available to the Company for its future acquisition, exploration and development of exploration and evalua
tion assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but 
rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future development of the business. 

The Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out its planned exploration and 
pay for future general and administrative expenses, the Company expects to issue new shares, issue debt, acquire or 
dispose of assets or ad just the amount of cash. 

The Company will continue to assess new exploration and evaluation assets and seeks to acquire additional interests 
if sufficient geologic or economic potential is established and adequate financial resources are available. 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes that this approach, given 
the size of the Company, is reasonable. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. There 
were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management du ring the year ended December 31, 2019. 

24. Acquisition of business and subsidiaries 

On 30 May, 2019, the Company acquired 30.46 % of the shares and voting interests in SAI. As a result, the Company's 
equity interest in SAI increased from 20.48% to 50.94%, granting it control of SAI. 

Taking control of SAI and its subsidiaries will enable the Company to further engage into the development and expan
sion ofthe Peruvian gold mining plant and refining operations as weil as the manganese exploration in Columbia. The 
acquisition is also expected to provide the Company a larger footprint in those two markets. Furthermore, it strongly 
believes that the global demand for gold and manganese will remain high, not only short-term but also from a 
long-term perspective due to its global shortage. lt will enable the Company to make the necessary investments which 
are required to further exploit the raw materials and process them into tradable assets. 

A. Consideration transferred 

in CHF 

Loan payable 

Total consideration transferred 

31'770'000 

31'770'000 

Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated May 30, 2019 between the Company and Adriatica, the Company acqui
red 30.46% participation in SAI for a total consideration of CHF 31.77 million. The purchase price was settled through 
an increase in the existing loan facility with Adriatica. The loan is secured through the Company's participation in SAI. 
The loan bears 1 % interest p.a. and expires on December 31, 2023. 
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B. Acquisition-related costs 

The Company did not incur any acquisition-related costs due to the factthat the negotiation took place with one single 
shareholder, Adriatica who sold its entire participation to the Company. 

C. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of 
acquisition: 

in CHF 

Property, plant and equipment 

Mining concessions (intangible assets) 

Loans 

Subtotal assets 

Loans and borrowings 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Trade and other payables 

Total identifiable net assets acquired 

12'495'480 

13'025'530 

4'207'301 

29'728'311 

-1'210'457 

-7'168'072 

-47725 

21'302'057 

The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as follows: 

Property, plant and equipment Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation 
considers market prices for similar items when they are available, 
and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. The 
Company has applied a combination of two different valuation 
approaches, i.e. replacement cost based on current market 
prices and the Canadian method of Hatch Ltd. which is suitable 
to value such assets. The Company decided to apply the average 
value resulting from both valuations. Depreciated replacement 
cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well as 
functional and economic obsolescence, if necessary. 

lntangible assets Market comparison technique: The fair value is determined 
based on a comparable transaction method. lt is being measured 
based on providing reliable market value benchmark compari-
sons. The Company has compared the overall price paid per 
ounce for such transactions as well as applying a common 
standard industry practice approach by using a 10% EBITDA 
potential ofthis material. 

In the published unaudited interim consolidated financial statement as of june 30, 2019, the acquired assets have 
been valued on a provisional basis due to the short time period between the acquisition date and the preparation of 
the semi-annual report 2019. Since new information was obtained since the date of acquisition, the accounting has 
changed between the interim consolidated financial statement and this consolidated financial statements for the year 
ending December 31, 2019. 

The main adjustments were: 
• increase ofvalue for goodwill CHF 50'195'355 
• increase ofvalue for concession rights CHF 10'550'530 
• increase ofvalue for PP&E CHF 12'495'480 
• decrease in value for E&E CHF -23'379'360 
• increase in value for deferred tax liabilities CHF 7'168'072 
• increase in other items CHF 1'711'619 

lf new information obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at 
the date of acquisition identifies adjustments to the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the 
date of acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition will be revised. 
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D. Goodwill 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognized as follows: 

inCHF 

Consideration transferred 

NCI, based on their proporionate interest in the recognized amounts of 

the assets and liabilities of SAI 

Fair Value of pre-existing interest in SAI 

Fair Value of identifiable net assets 

Goodwill 

Note 

(23A) 

(23C) 

2019 
31770'000 

51'169'934 

21'360788 

-21 '302'057 

82'998'665 

The remeasurement to fair value ofthe Company's existing 20.48% interest in SAI resulted in a gain of CHF 1'793'024 
(CHF 21 '360788 less the CHF 19'567'764 carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee at the date of acquisition. 
This amount has been included in 'net realized gain and lass' (refer to the note 18). 

The goodwill is mainly attributable to two important factors. Firstly, to the skills and technical expertise ofthe manage
ment and workforce to accelerate the two projects gold mining plant in Peru and manganese exploration in Columbia 
and secondly on the long-term market potential in exploring those commodities. None of the goodwill recognized is 
expected tobe deductible for tax purposes. 

25. Related party transactions 

The Company's related parties include key management personnel and companies related by way of directors or 
shareholders in common. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, the Company paid 
and/or accrued the following fees to management personnel and directors: 

2019 2018 
in CHF 1 Salarv/Fee Shares Total Salarv Shares Loan Total 
Directors: 

U. Ernst 1 10'000 - 10'000 10'664 - - 10'664 
K. Ludvigsen - - - 10'664 - - 10'664 
Dr. Stach 22'500 - 22'500 7'998 - - 7'998 
R. Gröflin - - - - - 209'537 209'537 

Management: 
P-M. Vogel 40'000 2'000 42'000 100'659 95'336 72'358 268'353 
Marco Dazzi 53'903 12'026 65'929 - - - -
Ingo Meyer 2 48'000 12'000 60'000 24'000 95'336 - 119'336 
Michael HinQst 2 48'000 - 48'000 24'000 95'336 - 119'336 
Total comoensation 222'403 26'026 248'429 177'985 286'008 281'895 745'888 

1 Reference to note 14, related party borrowings. 

2 Ingo Meyer and Michael Hingst are external consultants and the amount reported is not base compensation but a consultancy fee. 

26. Segment information 

The Company is organized and managed by means of individual countries. Since the Company currently does not 
generate any revenues and profits from its assets and trading activities, a segment income disclosure is not feasible 
and therefore omitted for disclosure purposes. 
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27. Principal operating subsidiaries and investments 

Country of % of interest 
lncor~oration 2019 2018 

Principal subsidiaries: 

South America Investment 
Gold mining plant in Peru 

British Virgin and manganese 
lslands 50.94 20.48 exploration in Columbia 

Troi Gobi LLC Mongolia 0 70.0 Exploration metal mining 

Marcor Ltd . Gibraltar 100 100 Investment vehicle 

Blackstone Resources Canada Switzerland 100 100 Investment vehicle 

Cobalt Trading International Hong Kong 100 100 Trading vehicle 

Blackstone Resources Management AG Switzerland 100 100 Management services 

Blackstone Resources Chile SpA Chile 100 100 Investment vehicle 

Blackstone Research GmbH Germany 100 0 Investment vehicle 

Blackstone Norway British Virgin Exploration in Norway, 
lslands 100 100 gold, rare earth 

28. Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

The consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the Board of Directors on April 20, 2020. The 
approval of the consolidated financial statements by the shareholders will take place at the Annual Shareholders' 
Meeting on May 22, 2020. No events have occurred up to April 24, 2020, which would necessitate adjustments to the 
carrying values of the Blackstone Group's assets or liabilities, or which require additional disclosure. 
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~ MOORE Expert Zurich 

Zurich, April24, 2020 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of 
Blackstone Resources AG 
Baar 
Switzerland 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG 

Korrespondenzadresse: 
Gotthardstrasse 55 
CH-8800 Thalwil 

Switzerland 
Tel+41432113547 

Domiziladresse: 
Usteristrasse 11 
CH-8001 Zürich 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Blackstone Resources AG and its subsidiar
ies (the Company), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31 , 
2019 and the consolidated statement of profit and loss, consolidated Statement of comprehensive income 
and loss, consolidated shareholders' equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements (pages 21 to 48) give a true and fair 
view of the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Inter
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and 
Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further de
scribed in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the require
ments of the Swiss audit profession, as weil as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG is an independeQt Member of 
Moore Global Network Limited 

Member of EXPERTsuisse 
CHE-109.576.732 VAT 
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Key audit matter 

Acquisition of South America lnvest Ltd. ("SAI") 

Effective May 30, 2019, the Company acquired additional 30.46% shares of SAI (in addition to the 
20.48% previously held) for consideration of CHF 31 '770'000 and therefore gained control. SAI 
holds two subsidiaries, a Peruvian gold mining plant with pre-starting refining operations "GESAC", 
and a Columbian entity holding Manganese licenses. 

This transaction is under the scope of IFRS 3 and the accounting is complex due to the significant 
judgements and estimates that are required to determine the fair value of the identified assets ac
quired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 

The Company recorded the acquisition entries as provisional in the unaudited interim financial 
statement as of June 30, 2019. 

Due to the size and complexity of the acquisition, we considered this to be a key audit matter. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit 

We inspected the acquisition contract and assessed management's accounting treatment of applying 
IFRS 3. Our audit focusses on the valuation of the acquired assets: Property, plant and equipment 
(PPE) and gold concessions (intangible assets) of GESAC. 

Our audit procedures to consider the reasonability of the valuation of PPE, intangible assets and the 

overall purchase price paid included among others: 

• inspecting the valuation report issued by the management's independent expert 

• challenging the valuation methods used by management to value PPE and intangible assets 

• testing and challenging the inputs used in the valuation models 

• involving our valuation specialist to assist in evaluating the method used and the fair value 
allocated to the two Peruvian gold concessions 

• evaluating any trigger event for impairment testing between the acquisition date and the 
issuance of the audit report 

• reviewing the adequacy of the financial statement disclosures 

The Company's information related to the acquisition of SAI is presented in note 2, 5, 7 and 24. 

Materiality 
The materiality determined for the consolidated financial statements as a whole was CHF 2'080'000 

. which represents 2% of consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2019. The materiality was not 
changed during the audit. We would report all differences above CHF 208'000 to the Board of Direc
tors. 

We chose total consolidated assets to determine our materiality as the Company generates no sig
nificant revenues from operations during 2019 and 2018. 

Other Information in the Annual Report 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information 
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements, the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the remuneration report and our au
ditor's reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual 
report·and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materi
ally inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

lf, based on the work we have performed, we conclude !hat there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report !hat fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements !hat are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concem and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar
antee !hat an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influ
ence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located 
at the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies.This de
scription forms part of our auditor's report 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that 
an .internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

The prior year consolidated financial statements were audited by a different auditor. The auditor's report 
dated May 6, 2019 was issued with an unqualified opinion. 

We recommend !hat the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

~XPERT(ZUR7.~ 

Claudia Suter Peter Marti 
Licensed audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Licensed audit expert 
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Balance sheet for Blackstone Resources AG 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 

in CHF Notes 2019 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 841'083 
Marketable securities 44'067 
Trade and other receivables 48'354 

Total current assets 933'503 

Investments in subsidiaries and accociates 3 52'320'195 
Financial assets 4 2'581'577 

Total non-current assets 54'901'773 

Total assets 55'835'276 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Trade and other payables 187'815 
Short-term liabilities to subsidiaries 728'716 
Accrued ex~enses 304'860 
Total current liabilities 1'221'391 

Borrowings 5 31'578'437 

Total non-current liabilities 31'578'437 

lssued capital 6 21'350'000 

Statutory capital reserves 2'852'626 
Treasury shares 6 

Retained earnings 
Balance brought forward from previous year -4'917'583 
Profit/(loss) of the year 3'750'404 

Total shareholders' eguity 23'035'448 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 55'835'276 

2018 

66'300 
187'895 
50'831 

305'026 

43'598'738 
1'034'562 

44'633'300 

44'938'326 

241'732 
371 '172 
224'925 
837'829 

25'432'469 
25'432'469 

21 '350'000 

2'852'626 
-617'016 

-1 '947'819 
-2'969'764 

18'668'028 

44'938'326 
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Statement of profit and loss for Blackstone Resources AG 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

inCHF Notes 2019 

Revenues 
Management services 
Other revenues 7 

Total revenues 

Operating expenses 
General and administrative expenses 856'425 
Personnel expenses 374'188 
Marketing expenses 78'750 

Other ex~enses 176'803 

Total operating expenses 1'486'167 

Non-operating income/(expenses) 
lnterest income 8 53'569 
Realized gain participation 3 6'891 '094 
lmpairment investment in associates 

Financial ex~enses 9 -1 '595'063 

Total non-operating income/{expenses} 5'349'601 
Extraodina~ income 10 
Profit/{loss} before taxes 3'863'434 
lncome tax ex~enses -113'030 

Profit/(loss) of the year 3'750'404 

2018 

887'430 
887'430 

1'153'624 
414'361 

24'509 

137'221 
1'729'715 

20'050 

-8'175'943 

-971 '585 
-9'127'478 
7'000'000 

-2'969'763 

-2'969'763 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1. lntroduction 

The financial statements of Blackstone Resources AG (hereafter "the Company'' or "Blackstone'1, with its registered 
offices in Baar, Switzerland, were prepared in accordance with the Swiss accounting legislation of the Swiss Code of 
Obligation (CO). 

The Company is presenting consolidated financial statements according to an internationally accepted reporting 
standard. Therefore, these financial statements and notes do not include additional disclosures, cash flow statement, 
and management report, according to Art. 961 d, paragraph 1 CO. 

2. Accounting Policies 

Assets 
Assets are valued at acquisition cost less impairment. Current assets with an observable market price are valued at 
the stock price or market value on the balance sheet date. All changes in value are recognized in the statement of 
profit and loss. 

Treasury shares 
Treasury shares are recognized at acquisition cost and are presented as a deduction from shareholder's equity. Upon 
sale of treasury shares, the realized gain or loss is recognized through the statement of profit and loss as financial 
income or expense. 

Financial liabilities 
Liabilities are recognized at nominal value. 

Foreign currency translation 
All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the spot rate at the reporting date. Results of foreign 
operations are translated at the average rate of the period which approximate to those rates when the transactions 
took place. Resulting foreign exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss except for unre
cognized foreign exchange differences on non-current assets and liabilities. 

3. Investments in Subsidiaries 

The subsidiaries of Blackstone Resources AG as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively are: 

2019 2018 

Country Domic ile Subsidiary Ownershi p % Currency Capital Ownership % Currency Capital 

Switzerland Geroldswil Blackstone Resources Management AG 100 CHF 100'000 100 CHF 100'000 

Switzerland Zug BS Canada AG 100 CHF 100'000 100 CHF 100'000 

Germany Erfurt Blackstone Research GmbH 100 EUR 25'000 100 EUR 25'000 

Gibraltar Gibraltar Marcor Ltd 100 GBP 2'000 100 GBP 2'000 

Chile Santiago Blackstone Resources Chile SpA 100 CLP 500'000 100 CLP 500'000 

Mongolia Ulaanbaatar Troi Gobi LLC 0 70.0 MNT 125'000'000 

BVI Tortola South America lnvest Ltd 50.06 GBP 5'966'203 19.6 GBP 5'962'628 

BVI Tortola Blackstone Norway 100 GBP 39'355 100 GBP 39'355 

Hong Kong Hong Kong Cobalt Trading International 100 HKD 100 HKD 

Pursuant to the shareholder agreement datedjune 5, 2019 between Blackstone and Adriatica, Blackstone sells its 70% 
participation in Troi Gobi LLC, Mongolia for a total consideration of CHF 30.0 million. The difference between the book 
value and the disposal consideration resulted into a gain of CHF 6'891'094 which was recognized through the statem
ent af profit and lass. 

Pursuant ta the sharehalder agreement dated May 30, 2019 between Blackstane and Adriatica Graup Ltd, the Campa
ny acquired 30.46% participatian in Sauth America lnvest Ltd for a total consideratian af CHF 31.77 millian. The 
purchase price was settled through an increase in the existing laan facility with Adriatica Graup Ltd. The loan is 
secured thraugh the participatian af Blackstane in Sauth America lnvest Ltd. The laan bears 1 % interest p.a. and 
expires an December 31, 2023. 
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4. Financial Assets 

in CHF 

Loans to directors and management 
Loans to subsidiaries and associates 
Total financial assets 

5. Borrowings 

Related party borrowings: 

in CHF 

Loan from U. Ernst 1 

Loan from Adriatica Group Ltd 2 

Loan from Biological AG 
Loan from Marcor Ltd 3 

Loan from BS Canada AG 4 

2019 

2'581 '577 
2'581'577 

2019 

4'589'753 

22'249'195 

4'061'122 

140'854 

2018 

291'895 
742'667 

1'034'562 

2018 

1 '771 '319 

20'261 '183 
2'550'167 

714'469 

135'331 
Not paid-in capital Blackstone Research GmbH 13'588 
Total related party borrowings 31'054'511 25'432'469 

1 Loan agreement bearing interest of 1.5% p.a. with a 12-month termination notice at the end of each calendar year. 

2 Loan agreement bearing interest of 1 % p.a. and expires on December 31, 2023. The loan is secured through Blackstone's interest 
inSAI. 

3 The loan facllity is comprised of 4 individual loans. Loan 1 &2 are combined wlth a total amount of CHF 2'210'166, bearing an interest 
of 1.5% p.a. and expire on December 31, 2021. Loan 3 amounts to CHF 49'056, bearing an interest of 1 % p.a. and expires on Decem
ber 31, 2021. Loan 4 amounts to CHF 1 '801'900, bearing an interest rate of 1 % p.a. and expires on December 31, 2022. 

4 Current account loan bearing interest of 1.0% p.a. with a 12-month termination notice at the end of each calendar year. 

Third party borrowings: 

inCHF 

Convertible Series A 1 

Convertible Series B 2 

Total third party borrowings 

2019 

513'926 

10'000 
523'926 

2018 

513'926 

10'000 
523'926 

1 The convertible bond Series A bears interest of 5.2% p.a. and matures on August 31, 2021. The convertible bond Series A can be 
converted into Blackstone shares at a 10% discount to the Blackstone quoted market price from January 1, 2018. Blackstone has the 
option to repurchase the convertible bond Series A from September 1, 2018 at the nominal value. 

2 The convertible bond Series B bears interest of 5.2% p.a. and matures on January 1, 2022. The convertible bond Series B can be 
converted into Blackstone shares at a 10% discount to the Blackstone quoted market price from January 1, 2018 with floor set at CHF 
6.00. Blackstone has the option to repurchase the convertible bond Series B from January 1, 2019 at the nominal value. 

6. Equity 

Share capital 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, the share capital consisted of 42.700,000 registered shares with a nomi
nal value of CHF 0.50. 

Blance sheet 
date 

31.12.19 
31.12.18 

Registered 
shares 

42'700'000 
42'700'000 

Nominal 
value in CHF 

0.50 
0.50 

Share capital 
in CHF 

21'350'000 
21'350'000 
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Treasury shares 

The number of treasury shares held by Blackstone Resources AG changed as follows: 

2019 2018 
Average Average 

in CHF Quanti!}'. ~rice Quanti!}'. ~rice 

Balance at January 1 509'505 5.6 554'111 0.9 
Acquisitions 300'606 1.9 75'512 9.1 

Dis~osals 1 -810'111 1.5 -120'118 7.6 
Balance at December 31 509'505 5.6 

1 ofwhich 59'252 shares were sold in 2019 to employees at an average price of CHF 0.50 as part ofthe employment contracts andin 
2018 15'300 shares at an average share price of CHF 7.51 respectively. 

7. Other Revenues 

in CHF 
Gain on sale of treasury shares 
Various income 
Total other revenues 

8. lnterest lncome 

inCHF 

lnterest income 

Total financial income 

9. Financial Expenses 

in CHF 

lnterest expenses 
Loss on sale of treasury shares 
Write off of financial assets 
Other financial expenses 
Total financial expenses 

10. Extraordinary lncome 

2019 

2019 

53'569 

53'569 

2019 
312'819 
294'281 
926'661 

61'301 
1'595'063 

2018 

825'726 
61'704 

887'430 

2018 

20'050 

20'050 

2018 

372'192 

319'191 
280'202 
971'585 

In 2018 an extraordinary income of CHF 7'000'000 was recognized due to the decrease in the loan from Adriatica, 
which was partially forgiven. Adriatica is a shareholder of Blackstone. 

11. Other Disclosures 

Number offull-time equivalents 

In 2019 as well as in 2018 the number of full-time equivalents was below 10. 

Liabilities to pension plan 

The liabilities to the pension plan in 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

in CHF 2019 2018 

Social security pilar 2 (BVG) 23'997 22'190 
Total liabilities to the pension plan 23'997 22'190 
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Assets pledged 

The following assets were pledged against various loans in 2019 and 2018: 

inCHF 

Investment in Troi Gobi LLC 1 

Investment in Marcor Ltd 2 

Investment in South America lnvest Ltd 3 

Total pledged investments 

1 Pledged against Biological AG loan 

2019 

1'500'000 
50'572'277 
52'072'277 

2 Pledged against u. Ernst loan relating to Marcor Ltd transaction 

3 Pledged against Adriatica loan. 

Shares and options held by Board of Directors and Management 

2018 

23'075'718 

1'500'000 
18'802'277 

43'377'995 

The shares and options held by the Board of Directors and Management in 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

in CHF 
Directors: 
U. Ernst 
K. Ludvigsen 
Dr. P. Stach 
R. Gröflin 

Management: 

P.-M. Vogel 2 

M. Dazzi 
1. Meyer 
M. Hingst 
Total 

Shares 

number 

19'499'224 

24'052 
39'000 

19' 562'276 

2019 

value 1 

9'749'612 

12'026 
19'500 

9' 781'138 

Options 

number value 

Shares 

number 

19'484'004 

12'000 

12'000 
12'000 

2018 

value 1 

9'742'002 

6'000 

6'000 
6'000 

19' 520'004 9'760'002 

1 The shares are valued at CHF 0.50 which is equivalent with the nominal value per share. 

2 Mr. P.-M. Vogel was CFO at Blackstone until 30.04.2019. 

Significant shareholders 

As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the following shareholders held more than 3% voting rights: 

Percentage of shares held 2019 2018 
(accordina to most recent disclosure notice) 
Ulrich Ernst 45.75% 45.71% 
Adriatica 19.43% 19.43% 
Marcor Holdinas Ltd. 9.83% 9.83% 
Total 75.01% 74.97% 

Options 

number value 

Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated March 12, 2020 between Ulrich Ernst and Adriatica, Ulrich Ernst acqui
red from Adriatica all of its 8'297778 shares in Blackstone Resources AG. 
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Proposal for the Distribution of Available Retained Earnings 

in CHF 

Balance brouQht forward 

Reclassification statutory capital reserves 1 

Profit/(loss) of the year 

Available retained earnings 

5% Allocation to statutory reserves 

Balance carried forward 

2019 

-4'917'583 

2'852'626 

3'750'404 

1'685'448 

-187'500 

1'497'948 

2018 

-1'947'819 

-2'969'764 

-4'917'583 

-4'917'583 

1 In 2016, Blackstone had recorded a statutory capital reserve as a result of a loan forgiveness. lt was recognized in the accounts but 
not reported to the tax authorities and therefore it cannot be claimed accordingly. Hence, the statutory reserve shall be reclassified 
to retained earnings. 
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~ MOORE Expert Zurich 

Zurich, April 24, 2020 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of 
Blackstone Resources AG 
Baar 
Switzerland 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG 

Korrespondenzadresse: 
Gotthardstrasse 55 
CH-8800 Thalwil 

Swrtzerland 
Tel+41432113547 

Domiziladresse: 
Usteristrasse 11 
CH-8001 Zürich 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Blackstone Resources AG, which comprise the bal
ance sheet as at December 31, 2019 and the statement of profit and loss and notes for the year 
then ended including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements as at December 31 , 2019 (pages 52-58) 
comply with Swiss law and the company's articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our respon
sibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibifities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the require
ments of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in ac
cordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 112015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

MOORE STEPHENS EXPERT (ZURICH) AG 1s an independent Member of 
Moore Global Network Limited 

Member of EXPERTsu1sse 
CHE- 109.576.732 VAT 
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Key audit matter 

Valuation of the investment in South America lnvest Ltd. as of December 31 , 2019 (includ
ing the acquisition of additional shares) 

Effective May 30, 2019, the Company acquired additional 30.46% shares of South America ln
vest Ltd ("SAI"), in addition to the 20.48% previously held, for consideration of CHF 31 '770'000. 
SAI holds two subsidiaries, a Peruvian gold mining plant with pre-starting refining operations 
and a Columbian entity holding Manganese licenses. The amount paid has been recognized in 
investments in subsidiaries and the balance carried as of December 31 , 2019 amounts to CHF 
50'572'277. Investments in subsidiaries are valued individually at acquisition cost less impair
ment, if necessary, which involves judgment and estimates. 

Due to the size of the acquisition and the balance carried as of December 31 , 2019, we consid
ered this to be a key audit matter. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit 

We inspected the acquisition contract and assessed management's accounting treatment. We 
assessed the entity's impairment considerations and valuation of the SAI investment. Our audit 
focusses on the value of the shares acquired and the total balance carried as of December 31 , 
2019. 

Our audit procedures included among others: 

• inspecting the purchase price valuation report issued by the management's independent 
expert (as prepared for the purchase price allocation for the consolidated financial state
ments of the Company) 

• challenging the valuation methods used by management to value the assets acquired 

• comparing the purchase price paid in 2019 with the balance carried from prior year as 
of December 31, 2018 

• involving our valuation specialist to assist in evaluating the method used and the fair 
value allocated to the two Peruvian gold concessions 

• evaluating any trigger event for impairment testing between the acquisition date and the 
issuance of the audit report 

• reviewing the adequacy of the financial statement disclosures 

. The Company's information related to the acquisition of SAI is presented in note 3. 

Materiality 

The materiality determined for the financial statements as a whole was CHF 1 '650'000 which 
represents 3% of total assets as of December 31 , 2019. The materiality was not changed during 
the audit. We would report all differences above CHF 165'000 to the Board of Directors. 

As the parent company, the entity does not generate significant revenues from business activi
ties but instead holds investments and incurs cost. As such, total assets are an appropriate base 
to determine our materiality. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of Swiss law and the company's articles of incorporation, and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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MOORE Expert Zurich 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Com
pany's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either in
tends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the 
website of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies.This de
scription forms part of our auditor's report. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 
that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial 
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

The prior year financial statements were audited by a different auditor. The auditor's report dated 
May 6, 2019 was issued with an unqualified opinion. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law 
and the company's articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted 
to you be approved. 

~PERT(ZU~ 

Claudia Suter Peter Marti 
licensed audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

licensed audit expert 

61 



Blackstone Resources 

62 



' Blackstone Resources 



Blackstone Resources 

LOCATIONS Head office Switzerland 

Blackstone Resources AG 

Blegistrasse 5 

CH-6340 Baar / ZG 

T +41 41 449 61 63 

F +41 41 449 61 69 

www.blackstoneresources.ch 

info@blackstoneresources.ch 

Disclaimer 

Other offices 

Erfurt 
Lima 

Santiago de Chile 

Bogota 

Ulaanbataar 

Toronto 

This brochure was set up solely to give investors an overview on the business of Blackstone 
Resources AG. All information are compiled to the best of our knowledge and are as per the 
actual situation. 




